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(Pause)

MR. BROWN: My apologies, Your Honor. I am

unable to locate Mr. Nieto.

THE COURT: I think he's coming in now, I

believe.

(Pause)

THE COURT: Ready to resume?

MR. BROWN: Yes, Your Honor. The Petitioner

calls Gerry Grant.

THE CLERK: Please step to the witness stand and

remain standing and raise your right hand.

GERALD GRANT, JR.
(A witness produced on call by the Defense, was duly

sworn according to law, and testifies as follows:)

record.

THE CLERK

MR. GRANT

THE CLERK

MR. GRANT

THE CLERK

MR. GRANT

You may be seated.

Thank you.

Please state you full name for the

My full name is Gerald R. Grant, Jr.

Thank you. He's been sworn.

Thank you.
DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. BROWN:

Q Good afternoon, Mr. Grant.

A Good afternoon, sir.
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Q Can you tell me very briefly, first of all, what

are you here to testify about today?

A I'm here to testify about cell phone records and

how the incoming calls could be deemed unreliable.

Q Okay. Can you first tell me — I'm going to ask

you some background questions. What is your education?

A I have a programming degree and multiple

certificates in cell phone forensics, computer forensics.

I also have training, years of experience in historical

cell site analysis, as well as education and certificate

on that as well.
Q Okay. And what specifically is the education

that's pertinent to this field and for your testimony

today?

A Well, I've had a number of cross-training

sessions with other experts. I've talked and had many

conversations with engineers. I've also took a level

three paraben course, which is all about the historical

cell site analysis, plotting, GPS coordination as far as

sector layout, as well as just hundreds of cases that I've

worked on.

Q Okay. Where are you currently employed?

A I have a private consulting business, as well as

I work part time for the Federal Public Defender's Office.
Q Okay. And do you also do some work for the
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Innocence Network and specifically Barry Scheck?

A Yes. I've known Barry Scheck for a while. I

actually lecture every year at his forensics college and

he has me consult on some of his cases at times.

Q Okay. And you mentioned that you've lectured at

Mr. Scheck's forensics college. Can you give some

examples of other courses and other lectures that -- just

a sample because I know it's a lot, but — so the judge

has a sense of it.
A Just over the years, I've lectured more than 100

times, training sessions as well, group sessions, as well

as plenaries. It involves anything from forensics to e-
discovery, litigation support, cell phone forensics, and

as well historical cell site analysis. I also — excuse

me. I've developed the entire cell site analysis training

program for the Federal Public Defender's Office

nationally.

Q Okay. And have you ever served as a cell phone

expert before?

A Yes.

Q Have you ever been qualified in court as a cell

phone expert?

A Yes.

Q Approximately how many times?

A Seven times.
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Q Seven times. Okay. And is it fair to say that

you've -- well, there's been — have there been far more

cases than that, but just oftentimes they don't go to

trial?

A Oh, well, absolutely. I have well over a couple

hundred cases that I've worked on just in cell site

analysis over the years. Most of them, after I plot

things out and look at the evidence, it turns out that

they do not call me and then I'm mostly working as a

consultant to help with cross examination of the other

experts.

Q Okay. And have your qualifications been in

state courts or in federal courts or both?

A Both.

Q Okay. Did you recently testify as the cell

tower expert in a very high profile case?

A I did, yes, sir.

Q What case was that?

A That was the Boston bombing case.

Q Okay.

MR. BROWN: I would like to approach the witness

to show what is marked as PC2-21.
THE COURT: And this is a new exhibit?

MR. BROWN: This is a new exhibit, Your Honor.

BY MR. BROWN:
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Q What is this document?

A It's my CV or resume.
Q Now, does this include — just tell me without

reading the whole thing because how many pages is it?

A Because it includes my lecturing, it's about

seven to eight pages, I believe.
Q Okay.

MR. BROWN: I'd offer this into evidence as PC2-
21.

THE COURT: Any objection to the introduction of

this into —
MR. VIGNARAJAH: No objection, Your Honor.
THE COURT: It's s° admitted then as

Petitioner's Exhibit PC2-2i.
(Petitioner's Exhibit pC2-2i is admitted into

evidence)

MR. BROWN: And, YOur HOndY, at this time I

would offer Mr. Grant as an expert in cellular phone

forensics and historical cell site analysis.

THE COURT: Just one second. Cellular phone

forensics and his — what was the second part of that

motion, Mr. Brown?

MR. BROWN: I'm sorry, Your Honor. Cellular

phone forensics and historical cell site analysis.

MR. VIGNARAJAH: No objection from the State,
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Your Honor.

THE COURT: And any — no voir dire? No —

MR. VIGNARAJAH: No.

THE COURT: -- objection? The Court then finds

that Mr. Grant is, in fact, an expert in the field of

cellular phone forensics and historical cell site

analysis.

You may proceed.

MR. BROWN: Thank you, Your Honor.
BY MR. BROWN:

Q Very briefly, with emphasis on the word "very,"

can you tell how cell tower technology works and explain

that to the Court?

A Well, if you consider cell tower — cell phone

forensics, as well as the historical cell site, it's

basically a network for antennas. So it's a series of

antennas that are strategically placed so that the towers

with the antennas on them can reach certain areas. So the

cell towers will blanket an area with a signal so that if

a phone is within the coverage area of those towers, it

will be able to receive or make a call. So it's nothing

more than just a network of antennas basically.

Q And in your field, is this type of technology

commonly used in relation to location, to determine

location of cell phones?
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A Absolutely. All of my historical cell site

analysis has been specifically about locating an

approximate area that a phone could be.

Q Okay. And I want -- I'm going to ask you in a

moment how this technology was used in Adnan Syed's case,

but first I want to ask you to give a basic summary of the

documents that you have reviewed in preparation for your

testimony.
A I reviewed the testimony of the State's expert.

Abe Waranowitz. I've also looked at other transcripts

from the closing, as well as actual cell phone records,

call detail records, subscriber information, activity

records, a number of different exhibits that were

presented as well in the case. So —
Q So is it fair to say that you have reviewed all

of the cell tower related materials that I've given you?

A Yes. Everything that you've given me related to

cell towers, I have reviewed. Yes, sir.
Q Okay. And just to be clear, have you also

spoken to Mr. Waranowitz?

A I have, yes.

Q Okay. Can you tell the Court how cell site

analysis was used in Mr. Syed's case?

A Well, in the standard form of cell site

analysis, that wasn't truly used in the case. What
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actually happened in the Adnan case — Syed — was that

coverage areas were defined from the cell towers. So the

individual calls were not plotted out, meaning that you

couldn't show a history of where a phone was traveling

through the calls. So I guess what they call provocation

maps and/or shaded areas were used.

Another part was that a very limited drive was

performed to see what frequencies the cell towers were

emitting and where they could be seen, and last, I believe

certain controlled outbound calls were made from a test

phone.

Q Okay. And when you say controlled outbound

calls were made from a test phone, can you just explain a

little bit more about the significance about that?

A Okay. With historical cell site analysis, you

Can get a general coverage. Then with what's called a

drive test, you can narrow that down. If you have a

phone, you can go to a specific area, make a phone call,

and if you things set up properly with either the cell

phone company or a certain setting on your phone, you can

see what cell towers or sectors, section of the tower,

that would be utilized during that activity.

Q Okay. And do you know whether when those

controlled test calls were done in this case, were all of

those controlled test calls outgoing calls or were there
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incoming calls too?

A Everything that I read indicated that they were

all outgoing calls.

Q All outgoing calls?

A Yes, sir.

Q Okay. And is it fair to say that those test

calls and the information or the results of those test

calls are then used in conjunction with the phone records

to try to establish location?

A Yes, it was. It was compared.

Q Okay. And do you know who conducted the drive

tests?

A The drive tests was Mr. Abraham Waranowitz. He

was in the vehicle, but then the prosecutor, I can't —
her name — a female name that was with him, she was in

the vehicle, I believe, as well.
Q Okay. Are you aware of whether anyone else was

in the vehicle?

A Not that I'm aware of, no.

Q Okay. Now, did — there's an exhibit that I'm

going to refer to and this is going to get a little bit

confusing, but I'm going to call it Exhibit 31 and when I

refer — you're not going to like this, Judge.

THE COURT: Well --
MR. BROWN: I'm going to call it Exhibit 31 and
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when I say Exhibit 31, I mean trial Exhibit 31.
THE COURT: That's —
MR. BROWN: It's State exhibit at trial, No. 31.

THE COURT: That's helpful. So we're going to

call that trial exhibit, which is already before the

Court, but —
MR. BROWN: Making this even more confusing,

okay, Trial Exhibit 31 is the same as Petitioner PC2 No.
17. I apologize, Your Honor.

THE COURT: It's all right, as long as —
BY MR. BROWN:

Q But what I'm going to dc is I'm going to refer

to this document — and it's a five-page document, right?

A Yeah. I believe so, yes.

MR. BROWN: Alan, can you make sure that's a

five-page document?

MALE VOICE: It is.
MR. BROWN: Okay.

BY MR. BROWN:

Q But I'm going to -- again, I'm going to try to

consistently refer to this as State's Exhibit 31.
Now, did the State's expert, Mr. Waranowitz,

affirm the reliability of this exhibit, Exhibit 31, and

how it was used for incoming calls?

A I'm not sure I understand. You mean during the

ACCUSCRIBES TRANSCRIPTION SERVICE
-466-2033 2007 W. Rogers Avenue Baltimore, MD 21209 667-210-2925

T-H-A-N-K-S C-A-L-E-B

Find links to evidence described above and many more original documents from this case
                at The Undisclosed Wiki     https://www.adnansyedwiki.com/PCR2016



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

190

IWFLWIWFFJ 11 \u'i i \ } j i[Hi

ADNAN SYED v. STATE OF MARYLAND
February 4, 2016 BEFORE MARTIN P. WELCH, JUDGE

trial?

Q During trial, yes.
A Yes, he did.

Q Okay. I'd like to show you what's been pre¬

marked as PC2-37. This is already in evidence. This is a

portion of the trial transcript, and Mr. Grant, are you

able to read that from where you're sitting?

A I am. Even though I'm due for new glasses, I

think I can still handle it. Thank you.
Q That makes two of us.

A Would you like me to start?

Q Could you please read that?

A Okay. And he starts out by, "Mr. Urick: Now,

if there were testimony that two people in Leakin Park at

the burial site and that two incoming calls were received

on a cell phone, they're an AT&T subscriber cell phone

there, cell phone records with two calls that were" --
there was a pause — "went through that particular cell

site location, would the" — pause — "that functioning of

the AT&T network be consistent with the testimony?"

The next page, it was objected to. The Court

stated, "You may answer only as it relates to an Errickson

piece of equipment and Mr. War — if I can pronounce his

name -- Waranowitz, "Yes."
Q And that question is about as clear as some of
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the questions I've been asking today, but can you try to

rephrase it in a clear and succinct manner?

A If I phrase it, he was looking at Exhibit 31.

Exhibit 31 contained cell tower records, which means

during an activity of a call, here's the cell tower that

was listed on the document. He compared that to his test

calls and looked at them and said if they're the same,

then, yes, that would be consistent.

Q Okay. And, now, what they're talking about in

this transcript are two incoming calls, correct?

A Correct.

Q And what they're saying — essentially they're

trying to use that to put two people in Leakin Park or

close to Leakin Park?

A Yeah. Well, he's saying that there's two people

together and there were two calls that came in, would it

show the location of those people and that's where he

said, yes, it would.

Q Okay. Now, there's a reference there to two

calls. From the transcript and from the phone records, do

you know which calls they're referring to?

A I believe these were referring to a 7:09 and a

7:16 p.m. call.

Q 7:09 p.m. and 7:16 p.m. incoming calls that the

State is arguing show that a phone is in the Leakin Park
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area?

A That's correct. Yes.

Q Okay. Okay. All right. Mr. Grant, are you

familiar with how cell phone companies provide

instructions about how to read their records?

A Absolutely. I'm very familiar with those.

Q And you've seen these instructions before?

A Correct.

Q It's something that you work on a daily basis, a

weekly basis? How often do you see these?

A We try to see them to make sure that they're

received with every new case. I also keep historical

copies of all of the instruction sheets or what they

sometimes call a key to their documents. It's — I keep

them bemuse things can change over time. They may store a

new field or they may change a timestamp and so that needs

to be known when I'm doing my analysis.

Q Okay. So in real simple terms, when you get a

set of phone records -- let's say an attorney hires you.

They want you to review cell records in a particular case.

They hand you some records. They come from, say, Verizon.
A Yes.

Q Are you talking about with those records, you're

going to expect to get instructions that explain how to

read those records?
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A Yes. They'll usually come with a separate

document that explains everything.
Q Okay. Okay. And you have seen these

instructions for different companies?

A Absolutely. Yes, sir.
Q And when a — an entity such as a police

department or a defense lawyer, when they get a subpoena

and they obtain these records, does the phone company

normally automatically provide the instructions of how to

read the records?

A Most times, they do. There are sometimes we

don't and we just go back and ask and they'll send them.

Q Okay. Can you give me an approximation of how

many different sets of phone records you've analyzed?

A A total — like, you mean individual record —
Q In your career.
A — well over 500.
Q All right. Have you analyzed and reviewed

records from AT&T Wireless?

A I have, yes.
Q From T-Mobile?
A Yes, sir.
Q Sprint?

A Yes.

Q Verizon?
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A Yes.

Q Metro PCS?

A Yes, sir.

Q And Cricket Wireless?

A Yes, sir.
Q And when you've reviewed these records, have you

also, when you review them, reviewed the instructions that

go with them?

A Absolutely.
Q Why is it important to do this?

A Each — even though the standardization of doing

a historical cell site analysis is similar through the

companies, they all use the same technology and the

process, they store their records differently. So in

order for me to understand how those records are stored,

what time zone they're in, if they're in UTC or what an

actual column means, I have to carefully look at those

records to match them up so that I am interpreting that

data properly.

Q Okay. And the instructions that you use, do you

rely on them?

A Absolutely.

Q And from all your experience, having done this

500 plus times, have you found these instructions to be

reliable and accurate?
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A Yes, they've been reliable based on the

date/time of the event. I have seen — just to add, there

have been changes. So certain companies will change and

state that they're now storing their time stamps in a

Central time zone instead of Eastern. So I'll need to

make sure I'm aware of that as well and that becomes a new

instruction sheet that comes with the records.
Q Has there ever been a time when — well, first

of all, so what you're saying is if you were to take the

instructions from the year 2000 and use them for phone

records that were issued in 2010, that wouldn't make a

whole lot of sense?

A I would not do that, no, sir.
Q The two have to match?

A Yes, sir.
Q Has there ever been a time when you have these

instructions were not reliable or not accurate?

A I have not come across that, no, sir.
Q Okay. I want to go back to, again, what we will

refer to Trial Exhibit 31.

MR. BROWN: And again, Your Honor, this is the

exhibit that was introduced into evidence and sent back to

the jury during the trial.

BY MR. BROWN:

Q And have you seen this document before and have
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you reviewed it?

A I have.

Q All right. I'd like to go through this document

page by page and I want you to kind of tell me how it was

put together.

A Okay.

Q What's the — is this the first page?

A Yes, it is.
Q What's this?

A It appears to me it's a verification of

authenticity, so it's like an affidavit from the AT&T

representative who was a Teresa Kaye, stating that these

records are accurate.

Q Okay. And what is — are you able to tell from

this document what Teresa Kaye's — what's her job? Who

is she?

A She's a subpoena compliance specialist, but she

also serves as the custodian of records.

Q Okay. All right. So that's a fairly standard

verification or certification, an authentication, whatever

you might call it?

A Yes, sir.

Q All right. And are you aware that that's

probably what's used to help get it admitted into evidence

in court so that Ms. Kaye doesn't have to be there in
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person?

A Yes, I'm assuming it's in place of her testimony

or a foundation.

Q Okay. If we can move on to the second page, all

right. What does the top line of this document read?

A It states, "Message, this is the last page."
Q Okay. And does that indicate to you that it's

the last page of a — some kind of printed document?

A I would assume it would, yes.

Q Okay. And do you know where this specific page

comes from?

A Yes, I do.
Q Is it part of the same document that makes up

the rest of this exhibit?

A It was part of a different document, a set of

redacted records that were originally received.
Q Okay.

MR. 3ROWN: Now, if you can do this, can you

make this like a half screen and bring up another

document? And the other document to bring up is what we

are calling Petitioner's Exhibit No. 40.

THE COURT: And this is a new exhibit, correct?

MR. BROWN: This is a new exhibit. I'm going to

take it over to Mr. Vignarajah.

THE COURT: So this is going to be PC ~
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MR. BROWN: PC2-40.
THE COURT: -- 2-40.
MR. BROWN: I'm going to offer this into

evidence, PC2-40.
THE COURT: Any objection, Mr. Vignarajah?

MR. VIGNARAJAH: No, Your Honor. Thank you.

THE COURT: So admitted then as Petitioner's

Exhibit PC2-40, which is a new exhibit.
(Petitioner's Exhibit PC2-40 is admitted into

evidence)

BY MR. BROWN:

Q Okay. So Alan's done a pretty good job here of

showing that the page number 2 of Exhibit 31 just — it

comes from a separate document?

A Yes.
Q And does that document identify the name of a

subscriber on it?

A It does.

Q And are you able to determine — now, this is a

little bit confusing, but the actual name of the

subscriber, is that Bilal Ahmed?

A Yeah. Actually —

Q In your —
A — it's hard for me to see it. Yes, there it

is. Bilal Ahmed.
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THE COURT: That's as to Exhibit 31, correct?

MR. BROWN: As to Exhibit 31, correct, Your

Honor, and I think the parties will stipulate that this is

the phone that essentially was used by Adnan Syed. Any

objection from the State on that?

MR. VIGNARAJAH: No, Your Honor.
MR. BROWN: Okay. We'll refer to this as the

Syed phone. Okay.

BY MR. BROWN:

Q So page number 2 of this document is an excerpt

from Exhibit 40?

A Correct.
Q All right. Let's go on now to the third page.

THE COURT: Of?

MR. BROWN: Of Exhibit 31. And, Your Honor,

just so we're clear, we're going through Exhibit 31 page

by page and we're showing how Exhibit 31 was put together.

Okay. And if you're able to also go to the next page on

the left side and then actually the page after that.
(Pause)

MR. BROWN: Well, the document on the left

should be State's Exhibit — or Trial Exhibit 31.
MALE VOICE: Exhibit 31 * s on the right.
MR. BROWN: Oh, I'm sorry. Okay. So on the

left -- okay. So forgive me, Your Honor. The document on
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your right is Exhibit 31.
MR. GRANT: Correct.

BY MR. BROWN:

Q Mr. Grant, were you able to determine where that

page came from?

A Yes. As you can see, it doesn't apply to the

document on the left. The document on the left was the

original cell phone records that had the redacted cell

towers. So that was the information that was received

without a search warrant. Then a search warrant was given

to AT&T, who then released a second set of documents or

subscriber records that were unredacted. Pieces of that

second one were used as the next pages in Exhibit 31.
Q Okay. So just to clarify, page 1 is the

authentication?

A Correct.

Q Page 2 is a document from Exhibit 40?

A Correct.
Q Page 3 is a page frcm an altogether different

document?

A Correct.
Q Okay. And I'd like to approach you with what's

been marked as PC Exhibit — PC2 Exhibit 15.

THE COURT: And I see this is one that's already

admitted as well.
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MR. BROWN

THE COURT

MR. BROWN

evidence.

This is not admitted, Your Honor.

Okay.

Okay. I would offer PC2-15 into

THE COURT: And any objection, Mr. Vignarajah?

MR. VIGNARAJAH: No objection, Your Honor.
THE COURT: So admitted.

(Petitioner's Exhibit PC2-15 is admitted into

evidence)

MR. BROWN: Okay.
BY MR. BROWN:

Q Now, before we get back into Exhibit 31, let's

talk about this document a little bit.

A Okay.
Q What is the first page that you see there?

A It's a fax cover sheet.
Q Okay. And then if you switch to the second page

of that, what is that?

A This is an unredacted copy of what's considered

the subscriber activity.

Q Okay. And does that — is that page there, do

you know whether that page is part of Exhibit 31?

A I do, yes.
Q You know it's part of Exhibit 31. Okay. And

are you able to read the last name of that document?
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A Yes. It basically gives the grand total usage

of time that the phone that's in the billing record was

utilized.

Q Okay. All right. If we go back to No. 15, so -

- and then that's the fax cover sheet?

A Uh-huh.

Q And then there's page 1 --
A Yes, sir.

Q -- then page 2 after that, and then there's page

3. Are those the three pages that are taken out of that

document and put into Trial Exhibit 31?

A They are.

Q Okay. Now, I asked you this question before,

but is Trial Exhibit 31 the document that was sent back to

the jury in the Adnan Syed case?

A Yes, I believe so.
Q And am I correct that we now have demonstrated

what each page of that exhibit comes from?

A Yes, sir.
Q And let's — if I'm being redundant, Your Honor,

I'm just trying to explain it very clearly.

We've got the authentication.
A Yes, sir.

Q The next page from Exhibit No. 40.

A Correct.
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Q And then the next page after that from Exhibit

15.
A Correct.
Q Exhibit 15.
A Correct.
Q And Exhibit 15.
A Correct.
Q Okay. And is this document, this Exhibit 31, we

go back to Exhibit 31, this document, which is five pages

long, is this the document that Abe Waranowitz testified

about at trial?

A It is, yes.
Q Okay. All right. And go back again to Exhibit

No. 15. And again, this is the document that's the source

document?

A Fifteen, yes, correct.
Q Okay. Now, this exhibit was not introduced into

evidence in its entirety, correct?

A Correct.

Q What from this exhibit was introduced into

evidence?

A The — I believe the second, third, and fourth

page.

Q Okay. Right. So let's go to the first page now

of that document. That's the fax cover sheet?

ACCUSCRIBES TRANSCRIPTION SERVICE
'-466-2033 2007 W. Rogers Avenue Baltimore, MD 21209 667-210-2925T-H-A-N-K-S C-A-L-E-B

Find links to evidence described above and many more original documents from this case
                at The Undisclosed Wiki     https://www.adnansyedwiki.com/PCR2016



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

204
ADNAN SYED v. STATE OF MARYLAND

February 4, 2016 BEFORE MARTIN P. WELCH, JUDGE

A Correct.
Q And that's what we're essentially here to talk

about in court for this issue?

A Yes, sir.

MR. BROWN: Now, Court's indulgence just for a

moment. All right.

BY MR. BROWN:

Q Does this fax cover sheet that accompanies this

document, does it explain how to read the cell records?

A Yes, it explains to read a subscriber activity.
Q Is this one of those instructions that you were

talking about before?

A Yes, it would be.
Q These instructions that cell experts, cell tower

experts rely on?

A Yeah, that's correct.
Q And that before they interpret the records, they

look at these instructions because it tells them how to

read the records?

A That's correct.
Q All right. And if you look at the part that's

highlighted — thank you, Alan -- what does that say?

A It states, "How to read," and then in quotes,

"Subscriber Activity Reports."

Q And let me ask you a question. Is this document
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a subscriber activity report?

A This document? It appears to be, yes.

Q How do you know that this document is a

subscriber activity report?

A Well, as we noticed, it's in reverse order, so

if you go to the last page of the document and if you go

to the top, you'll see that it actually states — it shows

who it was generated by and it's got the title Subscriber

Activity.
Q Okay. Now, if someone were to make the argument

that this document is not a subscriber activity report,

would that argument be correct?

A I wouldn't think so, no.
Q Okay. Because the document says on it — the

header of it says Subscriber Activity Report?

A Correct.

Q Okay. And just incidentally, are you able to

tell what phone number this document refers to?

A Yes. It's a little hard to read. You can see

it up in the top left. So it tells you mobile ID, which

would be the phone number, 443-253-9023.
Q Okay. And coming back down a little bit, this

page that we're looking at right there that's highlighted

and where it says subscriber activity —
A Yes, sir.
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Q -- where is that page? How does that page fit

into the sequence of the document?

A This is actually the first page, so it's in

reverse order.

Q It's in reverse order. So as the document is

presented here, it's kind of on the bottom of the stack?

A Correct.
Q Right. Now, staying on that page, can you read

what the columns are of the different types of data?

A Yeah, there's basically four columns. Well, the

first one's actually a numbered column and it doesn't have

a header to it. The second one, it's dialed number, so it

would be the number that was dialed from the phone; the

call time broken down in hours, minutes, and seconds; the

call duration, so how long the actual call lasted; and

then lastly, the cell site for that specific activity.

Q Okay. And when the police are subpoenaing these

records and they're going -- the thing that's used to

determine location is which column?

A The cell site would be.

Q Okay. And can you explain why that is?

A Well, if you look at the records, we have -- out

of all of this, it's just basically numbers and times.
The only piece of information that would give an examiner

any type of location information would be the actual cell
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site number. Now, this document itself doesn't give you

that location. You would need to cross reference these

letters and numbers, which would be the identification of

the cell tower, with another document that showed the

location of where that physical cell tower is located.

Q Okay. I'm trying to keep this simple and not

get too complicated. Let's hold that thought and you've

got all those cell towers. How would an expert from —
getting those numbers and letters under the column Cell

Site, how would an expert like yourself work with that

cell site data and those specific — one of them says

L651C, for example.

A Okay.

Q How would an expert work with that? In fact,

that's probably not a very good example. Let's go —
let's pick another call randomly, one that's not an

incoming call. Let's — I think call number one would be

good there. If you go down — keep going. Okay.
Actually, let's do call number seven.

A Okay.
MR. BROWN: Alan, you're pretty good, but he's

not that good. Okay. Let —

MR. GRANT: He had it pretty good. You know,

the tilting —
MR. BROWN: Yeah.
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MR. GRANT: -- is not helping. So — okay. So

call number seven on this document. Okay.
BY MR. BROWN:

Q All right. And just explain how you would sort

of work with that call.
A Well, call number seven, in my opinion, would be

considered an outgoing call because it shows a dialed

number. It shows the date and time, so we know the date

and time and it's in p.m., the duration, and the cell

tower itself, which is L653C, I believe or it's maybe 651.

I would cross reference that L651 with another document

that showed me where that tower is located.
Q Okay. Good. Now, hold that thought and I want

to show the other document with which you might cross

reference —
A Okay.
Q — that. And give me a second. Okay. We're

going to come right back to that. In the meantime, I want

to show you what's been pre-marked as PC2-36.
MR. BROWN: Mr. Vignarajah, did I just catch you

texting?

MR. VIGNARAJAH: The Judge has been very kind to

allow me

MR. BROWN: Okay.

MR. VIGNARAJAH: — to do that.
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MR. BROWN: Your Honor, I'd like to introduce

what's been pre-marked as PC2-36.
THE COURT: Which has not been admitted, but I

have a copy of, correct?

MR. BROWN: You should have a copy in that

binder, Your Honor.
THE COURT: And any objection to its

introduction, Mr. Vignarajah?

MR. VIGNARAJAH: No, Your Honor.
THE COURT: So admitted then as Petitioner's

Exhibit PC2-36.
(Petitioner's Exhibit PC2-36 is admitted into

evidence)

THE COURT: And —
MR. BROWN: And --
THE COURT: — can I have — maybe it's 40. Do

you have 40 or do I?

MR. BROWN: You should -- you have — you should

have Exhibit 40.
MR. NIETO

MR. BROWN

THE COURT

MR. BROWN

THE COURT

MR. BROWN

Forty's —
Oh.
My book ends at 39.
You can take my copy.

Please.

I've got it committed to memory.
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(Counsel confer)

MR. BROWN: Yes, Your Honor. I apologize for

that.

THE COURT: That's all right. It's been

admitted, but — but this is not the original, so it's --
Madam Clerk will have it. I'll just put this in my

notebook.

MR. BROWN: Okay. Your Honor.
BY MR. BROWN:

Q Okay. And is this a list of the locations?

A Yes, it's basically the Maryland cell sites,

with a cross reference between the number and the address

that it would be located in.
Q Okay.

MR. BROWN: And I just — have I moved that into

evidence, Chris?

THE COURT: You did. And —
MR. NIETO: Yes.
MR. VIGNARAJAH: No objection.

THE COURT: — it's been admitted.
MR. BROWN: Okay. Okay. Apologies. All right.

BY MR. BROWN:

Q So you would take -- if we'd go back to the

other document, you could find that — in the last column

where it says Cell Site, you could take that combination
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of numbers and letters and you could match it up on that

list and you could figure out physically where the tower

is that is connecting to the phone, correct?

A Correct.

Q Okay. All right. Let's go back to that cover

sheet, the first page, the fax cover sheet on that

exhibit. Right there, yes. Yes.
And let's zoom in on those instructions. Are

you able to read that, Mr. Grant?

A I am, sir. Thank you.
Q Do these instructions say anything about

location information in the records?

A It does, yes.
Q What does it say?

A Basically there is a sentence that has the

words, "Outgoing calls only are reliable for location

status. Any incoming calls will not be considered

reliable information for a location."
Q And it's pretty obvious, but is there emphasis

added to that sentence?

A Yes. They definitely underlined "outgoing calls

only." I'm not sure if it's bold or not. And then the

other one is the word "not" is in all capitals.

Q And do you think it's fair to say that AT&T —

and these are AT&T records?
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A It is from the AT&T fax cover sheet, yes, sir.
Q Right. Is it fair to say that that's pretty

indication that AT&T wants you to pay attention to that?

A I would say so, yes.

Q All right. Now, is there any doubt in your mind

that this instruction applies to these subscriber activity

reports?

A There's no doubt, no.

Q Okay. And how do you know that?

A Well, mainly it's telling you right up front how

to read subscriber activity reports. So the first thing

you would do is match that to that record.

Q Okay. How to read subscriber activity reports,

and these are subscriber activity reports?

A They are, yes.
Q Now, when you see that instruction that says

incoming calls are not reliable for location, and if you

were to then analyze those records, would you ignore that

instruction?

A I would not.

Q Or alternatively, would you take the phone

company for their word?

A I would expect that what they state there is

fact and I would go accordingly to that, yes.

Q So based on that, for an incoming phone call as
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part of these records and that is part of Trial Exhibit

31, would you, as an expert, plot the location of the cell

tower if you were analyzing the records?

A I would not, no.

Q Now, in the course of your work as an expert,

you assist attorneys with understanding phone records,

correct?

A I do, yes.
Q And in a case like this, where the instructions

clearly state that incoming calls are not considered

reliable, how would you advise the attorney regarding

those incoming calls?

A Well, the first thing I would need to do is

bring it to their attention so that they're aware that I

would not be able to reliably plot all of the calls on the

sheet. I would then ask how we'd want to handle this,

should we get more information or have this defined.

Q Okay. If a lawyer or someone else used 'those

incoming calls and plotted them to establish something in

the case, would that be an error?

A Without explanation, absolutely, yes.
Q And if you had been working this case in 1999

and you had received that fax cover sheet and you had read

it, would you — would this prompt you to verify the

information with AT&T before proceeding any further?
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A For doing any incoming calls or relying on

anything for incoming calls, absolutely. Yeah, I would

want to get clarification.
Q Okay. Did you have the chance to read the

affidavit of Abe Waranowitz?

A I did, yes.

Q Okay. I'm going to show you what's been marked

— pre-marked as PC2-19.

MR. BROWN: And, Your Honor, I will offer that

into evidence. It's a new exhibit, PC2-19.
THE COURT: And is this a new exhibit or is this

from —
MR. BROWN: It's a new exhibit, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. And any objection to its

introduction —
MR. VIGNARAJAH: None, Your Honor. Thank you.
THE COURT: — Mr. Vlgnarajah? So admitted then

as Petitioner's Exhibit PC2-19.
(Petitioner's Exhibit PC2-19 is admitted into

evidence)

MR. BROWN: Okay.
BY MR. BROWN:

Q And if you could go in — is there a signature

line on the bottom? Mr. Grant, can you read that?

A I can't. I mean, you can tell he wrote his

ACCUSCRIBES TRANSCRIPTION SERVICE
466-2033 2007 W. Rogers Avenue Baltimore, MD 21209 667-210-2925T-H-A-N-K-S C-A-L-E-B

Find links to evidence described above and many more original documents from this case
                at The Undisclosed Wiki     https://www.adnansyedwiki.com/PCR2016



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

215
ADNAN SYED v. STATE OF MARYLAND

February 4, 2016 BEFORE MARTIN P. WELCH, JUDGE

signature, but it's Abraham Waranowitz.
Q What's the date on that?

A October 5, 2015.
Q Okay. And have you reviewed this affidavit?

A I have, yes.
Q And has the content — the substance or the

content of the affidavit also been relayed to you?

A Yes, it has.

Q How was it relayed to you?

A Well, I was actually on the phone conversation

with him as well, a conversation between Mr. Waranowitz,

yourself, and me.

Q And if we could zoom into paragraph number 9,

what does that say?

A It says, "I first conveyed the information above

to Justin Brown and his cell tower expert, Gerry Grant, in

a telephone call on September 29, 2015."
Q Okay. And have you relied on this affidavit in

forming your expert opinion?

A I have, yes.

Q Okay. Now, based on what you learned from Mr.
Waranowitz from the affidavit or from your phone

conversation, what was his job at AT&T?

A He was an RF engineer or radio frequency.
Q And in the past, have you -- in the course of
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your work as an expert on cell tower information and

technology, do you -- have you had contact in the past

with radio frequency engineers?

A I have, yes.
Q Have you also had contact with custodians of

records —
A Yes, many times.
Q -- in your work? And so drawing the comparison

between custodians of records and RF engineers, do they

perform the same functions in cell phone companies?

A No. No, they are completely differently areas.

Q Explain that.

A Well, the RF engineer's job is to assist with

designing the actual network, so the coverage, overlap,

signal strength, when to put up new towers, all of that

information. So it's the actual backbone of the network

that they're designing, the equipment and the technology

behind it. Where the custodian of records is mainly just

in control of what records are being kept in the course of

business and they — then they compile those for you to

use in court.

Q Okay. Based on this affidavit, and also based

on your conversation, did Mr. Waranowitz have any

experience with AT&T Wireless billing documents?

A No. He stated that he did not.
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Q And, again, the documents that comprise the

exhibits we've been talking about, including Exhibit 31,

the one that went back in the jury room at the trial, is

that a billing document?

A He referred to it as billing and subscriber

activity. What he said is it came from the billing

department. It wouldn't have come from engineering.
Q Okay. And did Mr. Waranowitz say when he first

saw that document?

A He indicated that he first received it prior to

going up for his testimony.

Q Prior to going up for his testimony —
A Yeah.

Q — like a month beforehand?

A No, he mentioned just prior.
Q Okay. All right. And once — and when Mr.

Waranowitz testified, prior to his testimony, had he seen

the instructions of how to read these cell records?

A He did not, no.

Q And you know that from the affidavit?

A Yes, and he —

Q And is that consistent with what he told you on

the telephone?

A It is, yes.
Q And did he say -- did he indicate that if he had
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seen those instructions, he would've performed his

analysis differently?

A He did, yes.

Q And can you explain in what he would've changed

his analysis?

A Well, based on the instructions that were on the

fax cover sheet, he indicated that he would not have been

able to rely upon the accuracy of any of the records that

came from incoming calls to inform his opinion. So he

would not have been able to state if it was consistent

with the AT&T network based on incoming records without

getting more information.

Q Okay. And would that apply to the phone calls

that we discussed before, the phone calls that supposedly

put Syed near Leakin Park at 7:09 and 7:16 on January 13,

1999?

A Yes, that would apply. They were both incoming

calls.

MR. 3ROWN: No further questions.

THE COURT: Ana any cross examination, Mr.

Vignarajah?

MR. VIGNARAJAH: Yes, Your Honor. May we take a

brief recess before we do that?

THE COURT: You may. It's 3:36 now. Maybe a

10-minute break.
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MR. VIGNARAJAH: Thank you, Your Honor.
THE COURT: The court will take a brief recess

and I just want to remind you, Mr. Grant, that you're a

sequestered witness, which means you can't discuss your

testimony with anyone --

Yes, sir.
— until we resume. All right?

Thank you, sir.

You may step down.

MR. GRANT:

THE COURT:

MR. GRANT:

THE COURT:

(Pause)

THE CLERK: All rise.
(Recess is taken from 03:38:06 p.m. to 03:46:10 p.m.)

THE CLERK: All rise. Part 97 is back in

session. The Honorable Martin P. Welch residing.

THE COURT: You may be seated, everyone. And,

again, Mr. Grant, state your name please for the record.

MR. GRANT: Gerald R. Grant, Jr.
THE COURT: And I'll remind you, Mr. Grant, that

you're still under oath.
MR. GRANT: Yes, sir. Thank you.
THE COURT: And any cross examination, Mr.

Vignarajah?

MR. VIGNARAJAH: Yes, Your Honor. Thank you for

the accommodation.
THE COURT: Certainly.
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CROSS EXAMINATION

BY MR. VIGNARAJAH:

Q

A

Q

correct?

A

Q

Good afternoon, sir.

Good afternoon, sir.

Now, you've been an expert in a number of cases,

Correct.

And you sometimes have analyzed cell phone

records for the defense, right?

A Yes.

Q And you have sometimes gotten those cell phone

records from a carrier like AT&T or Verizon; is that fair

to say?

A Correct. Yes.

Q Mr. Grant, is it correct to say that sometimes

you subpoena a broad swatch of records, 200, 300 different

pages of records?

A Oh, sure, yes.

Q And when the defense counsel decides on a

particular day of interest, you sometimes go back and get

a business certification for those particular days, right?

A I haven't seen that fact as far as the

certification, but I've seen where they've given me all

the records and asked me to plot just a specific range.

Q Got it. So, for example, if you had a crime
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involving multiple locations where robberies had taken

place or bank robberies had taken place, a prosecutor or a

defense attorney might subpoena records for all of those

locations for a broad range of dates, but then ultimately

only use a small selection at trial. You've seen that

happen, right?

A I have, yes.

Q And you've done it yourself, right?

A Absolutely. Yes.
Q And I gather that in the course of testifying in

a number of trials, you have had an opportunity to be

shown something that had a business certification on the

front, right?

A There's been times. Most of it is they certify

it through the CD or something that came from the cell

phone company. So it would be the physical CD that was

sent to them or an e-mail that they had an attachment.

Q And back before there were CDs, sometimes the

documents themselves would have a certification on top?

A Basically, yes, similar to that, that they're

certified business records.
Q And one of the advantages of that is for the

purpose of expediting proceedings. You can — instead of

calling the AT&T custodian of records himself or herself,

you can just go ahead and use the exception that is
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allowed for authenticated, certified business records,

right?

A Correct.

Q And defense attorneys do that, correct?

A Correct.
Q And prosecutors do that?

A Yes.
Q And oftentimes, defense attorneys ask someone

like Terri Kaye for certified business of various things,

right?

A I would assume, yes.
Q And the carriers, in your experience, AT&T,

Verizon, other carriers, they respond to both requests

from the prosecutors as well as from the defense?

A Yes, it depends. I've seen them where they've

needed some additional information or the defense couldn't

get the records because their retention policy kicked and

they no longer have them. So they had no choice but to

get them from the prosecutor.

Q Okay. Now, you mentioned some documents that

you were shown. So you mentioned some documents that you

reviewed before you testified here today. Those were

provided by Mr. Brown; is that right?

A Yes.
Q Now, are those the only documents in connection
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with this case that you've been shown?

A No, there's been other exhibits and things that

were given to me as well.

Q Did you have full access to his defense file?

A No, I did not.

Q Okay.

A Only what he e-mailed me.

Q Did you have full access to the results of his

MPIA request from a couple years ago?

A No. I only received what he sent to me, so I

wouldn't have full access. I did not have that.
Q And you weren't involved in the original

prosecution some number of years ago, right?

A Oh, absolutely not. No.

Q You didn't testify in that at all?

A I did not, no.

Q You didn't see any records from that original

file either, right?

A No. I —
Q Okay.

A — did not.

Q I'm going to refer you to what has been marked I

Binder B as pages 0357 to 0473. The Defense and the Court

have a copy of this.

THE COURT: The Clerk will mark that as State's
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Exhibit —
MR. VIGNARAJAH: I'm sorry, Your Honor. I'm

trying to find it. It'll say the number 357 in the upper

right-hand corner and it will go through 473, all of

those.

THE COURT: And it's Binder B.

MR. VIGNARAJAH: Binder B.

THE COURT: And I forget, though, Mr.
Vignarajah, were we —

MR. VIGNARAJAH: We had tried to move all of

this —
THE COURT: Right.
MR. VIGNARAJAH: — together.
THE COURT: So I guess the question is, Madam

Clerk, how did we last mark the last State's Exhibit?

THE CLERK: Exhibit Binder A, you labeled it as

A-l and then you gave the —
THE COURT: Okay.
MR. VIGNARAJAH: So for this one, we label this

2-A.
THE COURT: All right. So it's State's Exhibit

THE CLERK:

THE COURT:

THE CLERK:

2-A or 2-B? I'm sorry.

The —
I thought you said in the binder.
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THE COURT: This is Binder —
MR. VIGNARAJAH: 2-A is fine. Wait. May we

approach, Your Honor?

THE COURT: You may.

MR. BROWN: And one question. I'm sorry to

interrupt. What is the end page of this bundle?

MR. VIGNARAJAH: 473.

THE COURT: 473.
BENCH CONFERENCE

(Bench Conference begins - 03:51:57 p.m.)
(All Counsel approach the bench where the following

ensues:)

MR. VIGNARAJAH: So —
THE COURT: So we let — well, let's for her.

MR. KRIMSKI: Here you go, Judge. It —
THE COURT: Okay.
MR. KRIMSKI: — starts with zero —
THE COURT: I'm fine. I just want to make sure

we consistently mark it.
MR. KRIMSKI: I'll get out of the way.
THE COURT: I'm trying to avoid any headaches

for Madam Clerk. Is there still an objection to the

State's introduction of Binders A and B in total?

MR. BROWN: Yes, there is, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Okay. So if we're going to do it
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piecemeal, I want to be consistent. So, Madam Clerk, the

last one we marked is State's —
THE CLERK: It was in Binder A and you had it

was Exhibit 1-A for Binder A and you gave a page.
MR. VIGNARAJAH: No, I didn't have one because

we did Exhibit 1 and then A, 3, and C. That's —
THE CLERK: Uh-huh.

MR. VIGNARAJAH: -- all from -- so 1

corresponded to Binder --
THE COURT: Binder.
MR. VIGNARAJAH: — A and that's where we — we

thought we were going to move in all of —
THE COURT: Right.
MR. VIGNARAJAH: — Binder A. So we marked

Binder A, Exhibit 1. When Mr. Brown checked it, he then

took subsets of items from Binder 1 and labeled the items

1-A, 1-B, 1-C.
Your Honor, could I just ask what the objection

is now that defense counsel has had an opportunity to

review this? This is a post-conviction proceeding.
THE COURT: Right, but —

MR. BROWN: Right.

THE COURT: -- even before we get to the

objection, let's --
MR. VIGNARAJAH: Yeah.
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THE COURT: — make sure we at least mark it

right —
MR. VIGNARAJAH: Okay.
THE COURT: — and then —
MR. VIGNARAJAH: I'm hoping we could perhaps

avoid that altogether. That was one of the reasons for

this was to —
THE COURT: Oh, the overall objection — general

objection —
MR. BROWN: Would you like me to address that?

THE COURT: — as to why? It's just simpler

just to let this all —
MR. BROWN: My concern is that if it's a

complete set of documents, this is a full, complete set,

that's one thing. My understanding is that certain

documents have been removed. So what I'm trying to avoid

and what I'm not — I could be wrong about this. I'm

trying to avoid a situation in which documents that might

be favorable to us have been removed and what only remains

are documents that could be construed as favorable to the

State.

THE COURT: Well, as I understand, this is all

of Ms. Gutierrez's file.

MR. VIGNARAJAH: Everything in — everything

material as far — in Ms. Gutierrez's file and were
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subject to the MIPA and been in Mr. Brown's possession and

these are the materials that Ms. Gutierrez had access to

and had in her file when she was making her decisions.

MR. BROWN: Are you representing that it's the

full attorney file, everything that we sent you?

MR. VIGNARAJAH: You gave me the full attorney

file.
MR. BROWN: Right.

MR. VIGNARAJAH: We pulled from that -- it was

disorganized. It was —

MR. BROWN: So that's my — yeah, that's the

problem I have. I don't know what — if you have a list

of stuff that you —

MR. VIGNARAJAH: Let's do this.
MR. BROWN: — excluded from that —

MR. VIGNARAJAH: Let's do this.

MR. BROWN: — that would be helpful.

MR. VIGNARAJAH: — let's do this, Mr. Brown.
What I will do is this. I'm more than happy to take the

CD that you gave us and move it into evidence so that in

evidence is everything in Ms. Gutierrez file as Defense

Exhibit/State's Exhibit 10 so that the record —
everything in there is — and then for ease of reference,

we took what constituted over 100 files that were

separated and disorganized and we tried to consolidate

ACCUSCRIBES TRANSCRIPTION SERVICE
-466-2033 2007 W. Rogers Avenue Baltimore, MD 21209 667-210-2925T-H-A-N-K-S C-A-L-E-B

Find links to evidence described above and many more original documents from this case
                at The Undisclosed Wiki     https://www.adnansyedwiki.com/PCR2016



I
2

3

4

S

6-
7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

2 2 9
ADNAN SYEB v. STATE OF MARYLAND

February 4, 2016 BEFORE MARTIN P. WELCH, JUDGE

them so that they were in the orders that it was received

and the subject matters that were pertinent to this case.

So we were just trying to cull hundreds of

documents that you gave us two weeks ago into — but I

could -- the question is whether or not the record is

complete. The State is more than happy to move the entire

CD that you gave us into evidence as well. That way

there's no question that we're trying to cherry pick.

That's not the purpose. It's just actually —
MR. BROWN: Right.
MR. VIGNARAJAH: — organized a little bit. Is

that fain

MR. BROWN: Can I consider it overnight and do a

little research on it? And this, I don't have a problem

with.
THE COURT: All right. Well, I just want to

make sure we're squared away as to what we're going to

call it.

MR. VIGNARAJAH: If I can suggest that we call

this State's Exhibit 2-A. I promise I'll explain that

before attempting.
THE CLERK: Okay.

THE COURT: But we're not replicating something

we've already done, right, because the other one was 1-A?

MR. VIGNARAJAH: Right.

ACCU5CRIBES TRANSCRIPTION SERVICE
310-466-2033 2007 w. Rogers Avenue Baltimore, MD 21209 667-210-2925T-H-A-N-K-S C-A-L-E-B

Find links to evidence described above and many more original documents from this case
                at The Undisclosed Wiki     https://www.adnansyedwiki.com/PCR2016



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

230
ADNAN SYED V. STATE OF MARYLAND

February 4, 2016 BEFORE MARTIN P. WELCH, JUDGE

THE CLERK: No. Right.
MS. HARVEY: You should have —

THE COURT: All right.

MS. HARVEY: -- 1-A -- so 1-A, B, and C.

THE CLERK: He's starting with 2, so we didn't

have any 1.
THE COURT: But this is going to be —
MR. BROWN: And, Your Honor —
THE CLERK: So 2-A and he said --
MR. BROWN: — I don't know if this will save

time. If Your Honor is going to grant the admission of

the entire —
THE COURT: CD.

MR. BROWN: — file, I would note an objection

for the record and accept your ruling on it and it's in.

My concern is that for various reasons, I might have to

object to it and I need to sort of research that just

because of complicated privilege issues.

THE COURT: At this point, you're not offering

the CD. At this point, you're asking me to admit the

entire Binders A and B?

MR. VIGNARAJAH: That is what the State would

now move, Your Honor.

THE COURT: If I admitted them A and B to make

it consistent with the way I treated your exhibits, then
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when you offer it specifically, we would then note it as

State's Exhibit — this is —
MR. VIGNARAJAH: 2-A. Oh, you mean --

THE COURT: -- Binder A --
THE CLERK: Uh-huh.
THE COURT: -- and then do we have page numbers?

MR. VIGNARAJAH: Yes, the page numbers are in

the upper right-hand corner.

THE COURT: That would be consistent, wouldn't

it?

MR. VIGNARAJAH: Yeah.
THE CLERK: Uh-huh. Yeah. Just tell us which

binder —
MR. BROWN: Just so I'm clear, right now you're

introducing —

THE CLERK: — and which page.
MR. BROWN: — this bundle of document/pages?

MR. VIGNARAJAH: At this point, moving in all of

THE COURT: Right. So the —
THE CLERK: You're moving —
THE COURT: -- Court notes the objection.
MR. BROWN: Okay.

THE COURT: I'm going to admit into evidence —

THE CLERK: Both of the binders?

ACCUSCRIBES TRANSCRIPTION SERVICE
-466-2033 2007 w. Rogers Avenue Baltimore, MD 21209 667-210-2925T-H-A-N-K-S C-A-L-E-B

Find links to evidence described above and many more original documents from this case
                at The Undisclosed Wiki     https://www.adnansyedwiki.com/PCR2016



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

232
ADNAN SYED V. STATE OF MARYLAND

February 4, 2016 BEFORE MARTIN P. WELCH, JUDGE

THE COURT: — both of the binders, A and B —

THE CLERK: Uh-huh.
THE COURT: -- but when we refer to them, I can

be useful for us to say that it's -- you know,

specifically mark it as State's Exhibit Binder B —
THE CLERK: Right.
THE COURT: — B, page numbers 8 of whatever.

THE CLERK: That's going to be B —
MR. BROWN: And as long as my objection's

reserved, thank you, Your Honor. I'm sorry to —

THE COURT: No, no, no. I just wanted — I

mean, we've got to go through this stuff and fashion an

opinion. So —

MR. BROWN: I know.
THE COURT: — and if you feel a need any way

along the way to make an objection, like it's incomplete

or whatever, I can certainly consider it.
MR. BROWN: Okay. Thank you, Your Honor.

THE CLERK: Much appreciated, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right.

(Bench Conference concluded - 03:57:48 p.m.)

(All Counsel return to the trial tables where the

following ensues:)

THE COURT: The Court is — based upon an

earlier motion will admit into evidence then State's
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Exhibits Binders A and B and notes Petitioner's objection.
{State's Exhibits Binders A and 3 are admitted into

evidence)

MR. VIGNARAJAH: Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Give me just one second.

MR. VIGNARAJAH: Of course.
THE COURT: All right. So now let's start fresh

with the specific packet.

MR. VIGNARAJAH: Thank you.
BY MR. VIGNARAJAH:

Q Now, I'm going to show you what's been entered

into evidence as pages 357 to 473 from Binder B that has

now been entered into evidence.

A Okay.
Q Could you flip through that and see if you

recognize those materials as materials that Mr. Brown also

provided you to review?

A Some of them look familiar. Others, they look

like cleaner copies. The copies that I had were, you

know, crooked and kind of cut off, but they do look like

different pieces of the documents. Let me look through a

little bit more. Yeah, the cell towers.

Yes. I can't recognize all of them, but I do

recognize a number of them in here, just in a different

format, cleaner.
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Q Now, if I can ask you — this is going to take a

second, but we'll -- cool.

A

Mr. Grant, can you see this on the screen?

Yes, sir.
Q And do you see that it's a fax from a Detective

William Ritz to Ms. Anderson at AT&T Wireless?

A Yes. It appears to be so.
Q And it's on February 16, 1999, and it says,

"Thank you in advance to your prompt attention to this

request. Any questions, please give me a call." Do you

see that?

A I do, yes.
Q Okay. That's a fax cover sheet from the

Baltimore Police Department to AT&T, correct?

A It appears so, yes.
Q February 16, 1999?

A Correct.
Q Okay. Accompanying that was a — it's a

subpoena. Do you recognize that?

A I haven't seen the actual subpoena itself for

the records. I just received the results from the

subpoena.

Q But you're familiar with the practice of

detectives requesting records from a company like AT&T and

accompanying it with a subpoena, yes?
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A Oh, absolutely.

Q And here it appears to be a subpoena for cell

phone records for 443-253-9023, right?

A It appears, yes.
Q And that is the cell phone number of Mr. Syed,

right?

A Correct.
Q I'm not going to go page by page, but the next

fax cover sheet is a fax cover sheet from AT&T to

Detective Ritz, right?

A Yes.
Q And this one doesn't seem to be dated on the

page itself, does it?

A No, but there may be a header or something that

picked up a date.
Q Go to the next page. Do you see a transmission

date, a fax transmission date at the top of that?

A 02/17, I believe.

Q So a couple days later, it seems like AT&T faxed

a document back to Detective Ritz, right?

A It appears so, yes.

Q And this was one of the -- this is the first

page of that document; is that right?

A Yes.

Q It says it's the last page, but it appears to be
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the first page; is that right?

A That's what it appears, yes, sir.

Q And you can see sort of a page number up there,

right, number 2?

A Yes.
Q Presumably the cover page was the first page?

A Yeah, the header would've been done from the fax

machine making the count.

Q And then the next page was a document with two

blacked out columns; do you see that?

A I do.

Q Okay. And this was about 20 pages long. You

saw that on the fax — the first page?

A I did, yes.

Q Okay. Just to go back for a moment, that

subpoena that originally requested this asked for phone

records from January 1, 1999 to the present, correct?

A Correct. Yes.

Q Do you see that? So AT&T, in response to the

subpoena, sent over all the records to that phone number

from January 1st to the present, right?

A I believe so, yes.

Q And those had those blacked out columns, right?

A Yes.

Q That fax cover sheet says, at the very bottom,
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"Blacked out areas on this report, if any, are cell site

locations, which need a court order signed by a judge in

order for us to provide," right?

A Correct.

Q They're not the kind that the company would just

give out to anyone? They would require a court order,

right?

A Yeah. Some do court orders. Some do subpoenas

or it depends on what it is they're looking for. So —
Q In this particular instance, it appears that

AT&T did not because those columns were blacked out,

right?

A Correct.
Q Okay. So Detective Ritz presumably has this

page, right?

A It appears so, yes, from the original fax. Yes.
Q And this doesn't have anything to do with where

the cell phone is, right?

A It's more subscriber information based on the

account.
Q It's about whose phone it is, right?

A Correct.

Q Who paid for the phone, whose name is the phone

in, right?

A Correct.
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Q And then he also received a bunch of pages

corresponding to that phone that had the blacked out

columns, right?

A Correct.

Q Okay. So then on February 20th, a couple days

after AT&T had sent their materials, Detective Ritz sends

another fax to AT&T. Does that appear to be the case?

A It does, yes.
Q And in that one, he indicates, "Please include a

cell site directory that corresponds within the sites

listed. Thank you in advance for your prompt attention to

this request." Do you see that?

A I do.

Q And that was accompanied — I'm going to flip

three pages past that. Okay?

A Okay.

Q With a court order, right?

A Okay.
Q With a judge having signed that court order on

the 18th day of February?

A Correct.

Q And there's a transmission report that indicates

that this was, in fact, faxed over on the 20th of October?

A That appears to be correct, yes.

Q That happened to be in the file?
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A I've never seen that. So I —

Q Okay. And then there's a document, another one

from AT&T, that is to Detective Ritz again, Bill Ritz,

right?

A Correct.

Q Okay. And it says that there's 10 pages that

accompany it, right?

A Yes, sir.

Q And that was accompanied by this document,

right?

A Correct, yes.
Q And this is that directory of cell towers to

particular locations?

A Yes, it is.

Q The kind of thing you would use to figure out

which cell site location would link to what particular

address, right?

A That is correct, yes.
Q That didn't come with the first report, did it?

A I don't believe so, no.

Q And at the same time, Detective Ritz received

another 24-page document from AT&T, right?

A Correct. Yes.

Q And that document, pursuant to that court order,

was this document, right?
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A I believe so, yes.
Q That was the first page referring to B-397 and

it went to the last page, 420. So that's 27 pages of

documents, right?

A Correct.
Q And the date range corresponded to the original

dates, from January 1st to the present again for those

records; is that right?

A I believe so, yes.

Q At some point, an analysis was done of these

phone records, right?

A I'm not sure if an analysis was done. All I

know is they were compared.
Q Okay. And let me just for a moment pause.

There's actually another request by Detective Ritz as well

on the 27th. Do you see that?

A I do.
Q And this asked for phone records for another

phone, right?

A Yes.
Q January 1st to the present again, right?

A It looks so, yes.
Q And there was a response from AT&T, correct?

A Yes, it appears.

Q With 21 pages for that particular phone number?
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A I would have to take your word for it, yes.
Q Do you want to take a look through it?

A Yeah, if — I mean, you know, if you want me to

count them. I don't have a problem accepting that.
Q This is the fax cover sheet, right?

A Okay.

Q And it had a number of pages following it.

A Right.

Q If you go down — keep going.
A I'm just — I'm looking at the page number.
Q Now, these records are in even a further format

— a different format, right, than the two formats that

we've seen so far?

A They appear to be, yes.
MR. BROWN: Mr. Vignarajah, I'm sorry to

interrupt. Can you reference a page number?

MR. GRANT: Yeah, and it doesn't — the pages

don't add up either —

MR. VIGNARAJAH: Okay.

MR. GRANT: — because it stops — this goes

from 2 to 18.

MR. VIGNARAJAH: Okay.
MR. GRANT: This is stating that there's 21

pages including the cover, so that's 19. You're missing

two pages out of this.
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MR. VIGNARAJAH: Okay.
BY MR. VIGNARAJAH:

Q So this was in the Defense's file; is that

right?

A I don't know. I -- again, all I received was

PDF copies of anything that was sent to me.

Q Okay.
MR. BROWN: I'm sorry, Your Honor. I don't know

the page number. Can you just say which page numbers

you're referencing?

MR. VIGNARAJAH: Pages 429 to 446.
THE COURT: 446?

MR. VIGNARAJAH: Yeah.

BY MR. VIGNARAJAH:

Q You are aware that Mr. Brown submitted an MPIA

request, right? Are you aware?

A I'm not aware. I don't know what he submitted.

Q And are you aware that Ms. Gutierrez, the

original attorney, came over and made numerous copies of

the documents within the State's file, including cell

phone records? Did you know that?

A I know somebody was making copies. You could

tell by the kind of skewed things that came across. So —

Q And those were of cell phone records, right?

A Yeah, in different formats. Yeah.
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Q Okay. But for each of the transmissions from

AT&T, we have the same cover sheet, correct?

A Correct.
Q So the fax cover sheet, no matter whether it's

accompanying Maryland cell site locations or the report

with the blacked out columns or the report that doesn't

have the blacked out columns and has fewer fields, they're

always accompanied by this AT&T fax cover sheet, aren't

they?

A It appears so, yes.
Q And the warning that you referred to on direct

examination, that is a warning you've seen before on other

AT&T fax cover sheets, right?

A I have not seen that particular one, no.

Q You haven't?

A No.

Q The one about outgoing calls versus incoming

calls?

A I have not, no.
Q Okay. And you haven't seen it for other

companies either?

A No. No. I have seen that cell — like, time

stamps are different for SMS versus others, but not to

that extent for AT&T with the incoming. No.

Q That's something that you believe is unique to
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AT&T?

A I don't believe it's unique to AT&T. I mean,

each phone company has their own system, so they would be

the one to determine whether the — what's being recorded

is reliable or not.

Q Okay. And you've testified in any number of

cases before, correct?

A Correct. Yeah.
Q And the concern about that warning, about

outgoing calls being reliable and incoming calls not being

reliable for a location, have you heard that particular

criticism made in other cases?

A Yeah. I've actually heard their — one of the

things — specifically the AT&T, for newer records, they

talk about data records or — because the new AT&T ones

will do both text phone and data.

Q I just want to understand. I'll show you B-360.
A Uh-huh.
Q You've seen other cell phone analyses attacked

on the basis of outgoing calls only are reliable for

location status, any incoming calls are not to be

considered reliable information for location? You've seen

other cell phone and cell site tower analyses criticized

on the basis of that particular statement?

A No, not with the way you're stating that. No, I
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don't — either — I'm not understanding the question, so

if you can rephrase it.
Q Well, location data connected to cell towers and

cell phones is something that prosecutors and defense

attorneys put forward in cases all the time these days,

right?

A Correct.

Q Dating back to around 1999?

A Correct.
Q That was around the early parts of it, but it's

done all the time, right?

A Now it's done, yeah, on a regular basis.
Correct.

Q Okay. And when prosecutors put on cases

involving outgoing and incoming calls or when defense

attorneys put on information based on incoming or outgoing

calls, how many times have you seen an objection raised on

the basis of this warning on the fax cover sheet?

A I have not. This is the first time.
Q First time?

A Yes.

Q Why do you think that is?

A Technology. I mean, I started after 1999 doing

my historical cell site analysis. So there — I have seen

testimony about this, meaning some other cases that talked
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about incoming being unreliable. Then the testimony

talked about upgrading their systems or configuring them

differently and then that error went away.

Q So let me ask you — oh, so you think the error

went away?

A I have not seen it in any of my newer cases, no.

There's no issue with incoming versus outgoing calls.
Q And you were doing this kind of work starting in

1994, right?

A Not in historical cell site, no. No.
Q Oh, I see. On your resume, it says that in 1994

to 2010, you were a computer systems administrator.
A Correct. That's when I worked there, but I

didn't start the historical cell site analysis for a few

years into working for the Federal Defender's Office.

Q It says here you provided computer forensics,

cell phone forensics, cell site tower analysis, and all

information for the Western District of New York, Federal

Defender Organization?

A Yes. It just didn't start it in 1994. That's

it.
Q Understood. In all those years, did you ever a

defense attorney stand up and wave around the fax cover

sheet and refer to the fourth line of that fax cover

sheet?
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A I have not, no.

Q Now, on direct examination, you said that you

concluded that the information on that fax cover sheet

referred to Exhibit 31 because on the original page or the

last page of the original report, it said subscriber

activity?

A Yes, that's one reason. Yes.
Q Are there other reasons?

A Well, she actually refers to it as call detail

records in her affidavit. If you look at that, she

doesn't even refer to it as subscriber information. So

call detail records are just another form of the activity

of a phone on a network that includes, you know, the date,

time, and/or cell site analysis. So sometimes you get

them with location information. Sometimes you get them

without location information. So she —

Q So you've heard that term, call detail records,

right?

A Yeah, that's commonly when it's used and

referred to now.
Q Okay. It's not referred to as subscriber

activity report? It's referred to as a call detail

record?

A Correct.
Q Okay.

510-466-2033
ACCUSCRIBES TRANSCRIPTION SERVICE

2007 W. Rogers Avenue Baltimore, MD 21209 667-210-2925T-H-A-N-K-S C-A-L-E-B

Find links to evidence described above and many more original documents from this case
                at The Undisclosed Wiki     https://www.adnansyedwiki.com/PCR2016



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

248

IWFLWIWFFJ 11 \u'i i \}j i[Hi

ADNAN SYED v. STATE OF MARYLAND
February 4, 2016 BEFORE MARTIN P. WELCH, JUDGE

MR. VIGNARAJAH: If I could ask to have the

exhibit that they referred to as — if you could flip a

couple pages in, just go to the second page here, one page

up. The records for the January 13th date particularly,

and I'm going to ask, if you don't mind, to do that split

screen again and on the other side, if you could put any

one of those pages that has those blacked out column, the

first page — actually, I'll do it this way.

BY MR. VIGNARAJAH:

Q I'm going to give you, just so you have a

reference copy, Mr. Grant, this particular cover page.

A Okay.
Q If I could throw this down for a second.

MR. BROWN: Can you identify that page number,

please?

MR. VIGNARAJAH: Yeah, of course. It is B-362.
BY MR. VIGNARAJAH:

Q Now, you have a document that says Subscriber

Activity Report on the top of it as well, right?

A Correct. Yes.
Q Okay. And you assumed that documents that look

like this are subscriber activity reports because on the

last page, it also said subscriber activity, right?

A Yes.

Q But you also referred to it as call detail
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records. That's the industry term, right?

A It's just a common term for them, yes.
Q That's the common term?

A Right, because it includes the individual line

items of the calls.

Q Very good. Now, I'm going to read some of the

other information in that fax cover sheet template.
A Uh-huh.
Q Okay. The first one says, "Please note all call

times are reported in Eastern Standard Time." Now, that -
- both of these have call times on them, right?

A Yes.
Q The second says, "Type codes are defined as the

followings." On the call detail record on the screen that

was used in evidence, do you see anything that's titled

type codes, any columns that say type codes.

A No, not on that document. No.
Q But in the document that you have in your hand

with the blacked out columns, does it have — say type

codes?

A Yes, it does.

Q And when it says, "ONC, outgoing, long-distance
call, LCL, outgoing local call, CFO, call forwarding, INC,

incoming call, SP, special feature," do you see any of

those codes on the call detail record on the screen that
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was relied upon at trial by Mr. Waranowitz?

A No, not on that one.
Q And what about on the subscriber activity report

that you have in your hand; do you see those?

A Yes.
Q There's a column full of them, aren't there?

A Sure. Yes, there are.
Q And when you go to the next line — or,

actually, look where it says, "When SP is noted in the

type column and then the dialed number column shows number

— a number sign" —
A Uh-huh.
Q — "and the target phone number, for instance

#718-222-5555," this is an out — incoming call that was

answered and then forwarded to the voice mail. The

preceding row, which is an incoming call will also

indicate CFO in the feature column. Do you see — you've

read this before, the fax cover sheet, right?

A I have, yes.

Q Do you see any columns on the call detail

records that are feature columns?

A No, I do not.
Q Do you see any references to SP or type or CFO

on the document here?

A No.
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Q How about on that document in front of you, the

subscriber activity report?

A I do.

Q Right below the warning that you referred to,

the outgoing calls caution, there was a sentence that

said, "Blacked out areas on this report, if any, are cell

site locations which need a court order signed by a judge

in order for us to provide." Do you remember me asking

you that?

A Uh-huh.
Q Do you see any blacked out columns on the call

detail record?

A I do not, no.

Q And do you see them on the subscriber activity

report?

A Well, they're both subscriber activity reports,

so I -- on the one I have in my hand, I do see the blacked

out ones.

Q And you think that's a subscriber activity

report because of the title, Subscriber Activity Report?

A Yeah, I believe it's just a different form of

the same report.

Q And that's why you think location — outgoing

calls only are reliable for location status, any incoming

calls will not be considered reliable information for
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location, you think that even though there's not a

location column on here, it's a cell site, right?

A But it's not talking about a column. It's

talking about location, meaning that the only unknown out

of all of these records, so if you take any of these

records, whether the one that's up here or the one here,

the only unknown factor is the phone itself. So there

would be no reason to have any location being off because

they know where a physical tower is located. So that's

the only thing as a cell site analysis that I would

analyze is location based on cell towers.
MR. VIGNARAJAH: If I could use this one for a

moment.
BY MR. VIGNARAJAH:

Q Now, this subscriber activity report also has

cell site towers, right, the blacked out columns?

A Yes, it does.

Q And it also has a column that's titled location.

A Correct. Actually, it's location 1. It has a

one after it.
Q Location 1. So you conclude in your expert

opinion that this is not the location column to which the

statement refers, but rather the cell site records on the

-- what is the industry term is the call detail records;

is that right?
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A I would, yes.

Q Okay. And that's all because the last page of

what the industry refers to as call detail records has

subscriber activity at the top?

A Yes, it would apply to the locations. Yes.

Q Even though it doesn't have any of the other

columns or features or information that are contained in

the legend?

A Correct. And I've seen that in many cases where

I receive multiple reports from a cell phone company and

one report includes a column and the next report doesn't.
So it's not uncommon for me to see the same data presented

in multiple reports.

Q And the -- and that challenge to the incoming

calls based on your interpretation of that legend, were

there other experts back in 1999, 1998, 1997, 2000, 2001,

2002, that were bringing that challenge to court based on

your interpretation of what —
A I'm not —
Q — a subscriber activity report is?

A — I'm not aware of any, no.

Q You're not aware of any?

A No.

Q But incoming calls and outgoing calls both were

presented to courtrooms across the country in trials
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across the country, right?

A I'm not aware, no. I wouldn't have that

information.
Q You wouldn't have that information?

A Right. I mean, only unless there was cases that

I was involved with.
Q Was that — did you bring that challenge in any

of those cases that you were involved in?

A No. No, we did not.
Q It's a novel challenge, fair to say?

A No, I don't think it's novel. I think anything

that has an instruction that says something is unreliable

needs to be followed up.
Q I mean it's a novel theory in the sense that no

one's ever tried it before; is that fair to say?

A No. Not now. I think it's just rare or that

instance didn't come up.

Q Well, tell the Court the last time it happened

in a courtroom.
A It hasn't. I have not seen this.

Q Now, Mr. Brown on direct examination expressed

some concern about pages being pulled from one document,

another document, and being included in the evidence,

Exhibit 31, at the original trial. Do you recall Mr.
Brown talking to you about that?
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A Could you repeat that again?

Q Do you recall Mr. Brown asking you questions

about pages being taken from different documents and being

connected in Exhibit 31 at trial?

A I do, yes.
Q Okay. I'm going to show Petitioner's Exhibit 2-

18. Did you have an opportunity — did Mr. Brown show you

this document?

A I don't believe I've seen that document, no.
Q You don't. It's the Petitioner's exhibit. You

haven't seen this one?

A No, I don't —
Q Okay.
A — believe so.

Q It's a request from Mr. Urick, right? You see

in the signature block at the bottom it's ASA Kevin Urick?

A I do.
Q And at the top, it says Ms. Terri Kaye, AT&T

Wireless, right?

A Correct.
Q And it says, "Dear Ms. Kaye, pursuant to your

telephone conversation this date, I'm faxing you four

pages of AT&T Wireless billing records that we obtained

for a subpoena. I would appreciate it if you would return

the records to me as certified business records. Please
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send the records to me at the address below. Thank you

for attention in this matter. I'd also appreciate it if

you'd expedite this request for our trial in State v.
Adnan Syed is Wednesday, October 13, 1999."

Do you see that?

A Yes, and after reading it, I believe I did see

that. So

Q Okay. And this is not uncommon for prosecutors

and defense attorneys, a couple days before trial, to

request certified business records --
A Yeah, it's —

Q — in advance of trial?

A No, I've seen it before. Yes, so it's not

uncommon.

Q It happens in this case, right?

A It does, yes.
Q And it happened in serious cases and small cases

across the country, right?

A Yes. I have not seen it with a limited page set

like this. I've seen it more a certification on all of

the records. I have not seen it where they have taken a

small subset just for those to certify.

Q Okay. So this was the fax, right?

A Yes.

Q Cover page. And this was the first record,
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right?

A Correct.
Q This is the one that has nothing to do with

location. It has the subscriber information

A It does, yes.

Q This was one of the pages of what the industry

refers to as the call detail record, right?

A Correct.
Q What you think might be a subscriber activity

report, right?

A It states that on the page, yes. Not in this —

not specifically in this document, but on the other

document that it came from.

Q Right. This is the second page of that?

A It is.

Q The third page of that?

A Yes, sir.

Q So Mr. Urick got certified business records for

a subset of the records to use at trial, right?

A That's what it appears, yes.

Q And the records that he got corresponded to the

date of the murder, right?

A I believe so, yes.
Q And if defense counsel wanted to object, they

could, right?

}-466-2C
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A I'll assume so, yes.
Q And have you reviewed the testimony of Mr.

Waranowitz?

A I have, yes.

Q And Ms. Gutierrez objected many times to the

cell phone records, didn't she?

A Yes, she did.

Q And she attempted to disqualify the expert

because in 1999, this was one of the very first time this

was being done, right?

A It was one of his first ones, I believe. I'm

not quite sure if it was the only time it was ever done.
Q No, no, certainly not the only time, but one of

the first times?

A Yeah. It was — yeah, it's definitely early on.
Yes.

Q And Ms. Gutierrez presumably had potential

contact with AT&T directly?

A That I don't know.

Q Okay.
MR. VIGNARAJAH: Offer this as State's Exhibit

3.
(State's Exhibit 3 is marked for identification)

THE COURT: This is not in a binder?

MR. VIGNARAJAH: It is not, Your Honor.
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THE CLERK: Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: We'll mark it for ID.

MR. VIGNARAJAH: Your Honor, in light of the

fact that this was contained as part of Ms. Gutierrez's

file, may we move State's Exhibit 3 into evidence?

THE COURT: Any objection —

MR. BROWN: No objection.
THE COURT: -- Mr. Brown? So admitted then as

State's Exhibit No. 3.

{State's Exhibit 3 is admitted into evidence)

BY MR. VIGNARAJAH:

Q You haven't seen this, have you?

A I have not, no.
Q Let me see if I can put it up on the screen and

see if you can figure out what it is. Do you see the

header at the top?

A Yes.

Q And what's the header, Redmond, Burgin &

Gutierrez?

A Yes, it is.
Q Okay. And do you see who it's directed to?

A Terri Kaye, yes.

Q And it's a subpoena compliance specialist at

AT&T?

A Yes, it is.

ACCUSCRIBES TRANSCRIPTION SERVICE
2007 W. Rogers Avenue Baltimore, MD 21209 667-210-2925T-H-A-N-K-S C-A-L-E-B

Find links to evidence described above and many more original documents from this case
                at The Undisclosed Wiki     https://www.adnansyedwiki.com/PCR2016



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

260

IWFLWIWFFJ 11 \u'i i \}j i[Hi

ADNAN SYED v. STATE OF MARYLAND
February 4, 2016 BEFORE MARTIN P. WELCH, JUDGE

Q And the date is October 11, 1999.
A Yes.

Q And do you see the letter from Ms. Gutierrez

with her signature at the bottom?

A I do.

Q This reads, "We are representing Adnan Syed in

the above-referenced matter. Mr. Waranowitz, an AT&T

Wireless employee will be testifying in these proceedings.

In his initial statement to Mr. Urick, Assistant State's

Attorney for Baltimore City, Mr. Waranowitz mentioned a

number of cell sites. We're requesting any maps covering

the cell sites discussed in his statement, any coverage

maps that you are discovering — describing in different

areas, and any information used by Mr. Robbins to

distinguish the particular cell sites mentioned."
Do you see that?

A I do.
Q On the pages that follow, there's a fax

transmission sheet, right?

A Uh-huh. Yes, sir.
Q And there's a subpoena?

A Yes, sir.

Q This is from Ms. Gutierrez, right?

A That appears to be, yes, sir.

Q And this is AT&T's response, right?
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A Correct.

Q And it's signed Mr. Waranowitz, right?

A Yes, it is.
Q And Mr. Waranowitz was communicating to Ms.

Gutierrez, right?

A It appears so, yes.
Q And it indicates, "My supervisor, Bill Lamda,

has received your subpoena. Abraham Waranowitz will be

available to represent AT&T Wireless services as specified

in your subpoena. I am available only for technical

issues regarding the use and operation of AT&T Wireless

PCS phones and have already been approved the State's

Attorney in this case as an expert witness."
That's for Waranowitz, right?

A Yes.

Q To the defense attorney, right?

A Correct.

Q Ms. Gutierrez had subpoenaed Mr. Waranowitz just

as the State had. Is that your understanding of those

documents?

A Yes, she sent a subpoena. I'm not — I didn't -

- I'm not sure exactly what it is she — she was looking

for any and all reports and records that were created.
That's what it appears to be.

Q And this is additional correspondence the next
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day between Ms. Gutierrez and Terri Kaye at A&T, right?

A Yes.
Q And one of the law clerks had spoken with AT&T.

Do you see that reference in the first line?

A I do.
Q And it says, "Please find attached" that

subpoenaed directed to Bill Lamda, Mr. Waranowitz's

supervisor. "It is my understanding upon receipt of the

subpoena you would contact Mr. Lambda directly with regard

to this matter." Ms. Gutierrez was subpoenaing the

supervisor as well. Is that your understanding?

A That's what it looks like, yes, sir.
Q And there's a second subpoena?

A Yes, sir.

Q And a fax cover sheet —
A Correct.

Q — from Ms. --
A From —
Q — Gutierrez's office --
A Yes, sir.
Q — on October 12th? And a fax confirmation

report, right?

A Yes, sir.
Q And more correspondence, correct?

A Yes, it does. It looks like.
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Q And it refers to Ms. Gutierrez's instruction to

contact Michael Lewis if there are any questions, right?

A Yes, sir.
Q And another subpoena?

A Yes.
Q And this is a fax to Ms. Gutierrez from Mr.

Waranowitz. Do you see that?

A I do, yes.
Q And that's on December 7, 1999, right?

A Yes.

Q And there are maps that are being sent to Ms.

Gutierrez directly from the expert, right?

A It appears so, if that's the return. Yes.

Q And what's that?

A It's hard for me to tell. I can't see it.
Q Can you see that?

A Yeah.
Q Do you know what it is?

A It looks like it could be some type of frequency

analysis, basically the — kind of like a drive test or a

frequency of a cell site. I would need more information

to know.

Q

A

Q

Does that help?

Yeah. That's a frequency plan there.
So Mr. Waranowitz sent a frequency plan over to
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Ms. Gutierrez as well at her request; is that your

understanding?

A It appears that's what he sent, yes.

Q So is it fair to conclude that Ms. Gutierrez was

in direct contact with Mr. Waranowitz and AT&T and Mr.

Waranowitz's supervisor and Terri Kaye, the compliance

specialist, in the days before Mr. Syed's trial, just as

the State was?

A It looks as if that's correct, yes.
Q And earlier you said that you've never seen

somebody request a certified business record for a subset

of the document; is that what you testified to?

A Correct. At least all my practices, they've

certified the entire document, submitted that as an

exhibit, and then I would do an analysis on a subset of

that.
Q So that's your practice or that's the practice

of everyone?

A No, that's just what I'm experienced with. It's

not -- I don't know what the practice of everyone would

be. I just don't have any experience in the cases that

I've worked it.

Q Okay. And so you've never been involved in a

case where they had 500 pages of documents and there was

only certified business records for the two jails calls or
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the two days of the murder or the two days of bank

records? You've never seen that before?

A Well, there may be, but I wasn't involved in

that discovery. So if I'm doing a historical cell site

analysis, they keep me completely separate. I would be

sent just the cell phones and I wouldn't be privy to any

of the other discovery.
Q Okay. Now, is it possible, Mr. Grant, that the

reason why no attorney that you know of in the last 20

years has made the argument based on the fax cover sheet

to criticize incoming calls, is it possible the reason for

that is because your interpretation of what a subscriber

activity report is wrong? Is that a possible reason why

no one's done it?

A No. No. I've actually read testimony that

there has been issues with it, but I'm just — I'm not —
you know, when you're saying are you aware of a case, I

don't know if me reading testimony of an expert stating

that there's a problem with incoming would apply.
Q And, Mr. Grant, I want to be clear. I'm not

saying there are no cases. I'm asking if there are any

cases.

A Well, right. I've never been involved in any,

so I'm not, like, completely aware of it, but I have read

transcripts from experts that indicate that there are
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issues with calls, incoming calls.
Q But to clear, Mr. Grant, you're the expert who

testified in the Boston marathon bombing case, right?

A Correct.
Q I mean, if anybody would know about these kind

of criticisms being lodged, it would be you, right?

A Right, but in Boston, it was a different year of

records, so nothing applied at that point.
Q I'm saying over the course of your career, you

have been exposed to any number of attacks on cell tower

records and have you made any number of attacks on cell

tower records.
A Correct.
Q I don't know. I'm asking you do you know of any

cases where an attorney has made the criticism that you

are alluding to with respect to that fax cover sheet?

A No, I have not.
Q Is it possible that the reason you don't know of

any is because your interpretation of what that fax cover

sheet is referring to is wrong? Is that a possible

explanation for why you've never heard of it?

A No, I wouldn't say it is. I just — it's either

somebody didn't do it or I'm just not aware. It could be

out there.

Q Now, let me ask you about drive testing. Can
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you explain to the Court what that is exactly?

A Well, there's different forms of drive testing.

What a drive test would do is to have an engineer or

somebody equivalent with a special set of equipment in a

vehicle and they would — if they are trying to narrow

down the exact coverage of a cell tower and/or sector,

they would drive with specialized equipment on every road

that they possibly can go on, as well as I've even seen

them take four-wheelers through fields and everything, and

what it does is it measures the frequency. Those

frequency charts that you were seeing up there before is

similar to drive testing where it would know based on

where this equipment is with GPS coordinates what signal

would be the strongest at that point. So it lays it all

out and kind of does a computer model of what it thinks

would be the coverage of that cell tower.

Q So very similar to Mr. Waranowitz did in this

case?

A No. No. He did some of that. There were some

points that were plotted from a drive test, but they were

only a few roads. The other part Mr. Waranowitz did was

just — was instructed to go to certain locations and make

a test call.

Q Okay. And —
A That's —
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Q — have you ever done that yourself?

A No, I've not done — I've done test calls, but

I've not done drive tests.

Q You've done test calls?

A Yes.

Q So tell us about that.
A The test calls were in a case that we just --

it's not to the granularity of a drive test. All it was,

was we wanted to see if the calls that we made in a

certain location would hit a certain tower basically. So

we bought test phones, did test calls, and then order the

records.

Q And how many calls do you make?

A I sent and — we actually sent and received —
or, no, I just — I don't believe there was an incoming.

I think it was just ongoing. Probably about a dozen calls

per phone because there were multiple locations.

Q And that's the one time —
A Yeah, just the one time. Yes.

Q Just that one time?

A Yes.
Q And you mumbled something. I just wanted to

make sure I heard you right. You said that in that

particular case, you only did outgoing calls?

A I did, yes.
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Q No incoming calls?

A No, I did not.

Q Same thing that Mr. Waranowitz did, right?

A Yes.
Q But I presume that you weren't challenged on the

basis of a fax cover sheet in that case, were you?

A Yeah, there — the instruction sheet that came

with that had no indication of incoming calls. Plus, it

was in a newer time frame. So there was no issues that I

was aware of.

Q So if another expert testified that the

distinction between incoming calls and outgoing calls that

you're trying to make doesn't apply to cell site

locations, that expert would be wrong?

A I'm not quite sure I understand what you're

asking.

Q Well, you're saying you did the same thing as

Mr. Waranowitz, but you weren't criticized for it because

the reports you were dealing with didn't have the problem

that the AT&T records were dealing with, right?

A Yeah. Well, I just did it — we did it as a

different basis. We weren't using it as a historical

analysis. We were just looking to see if that was an

actual cell tower that can be hit in that location.
Q So if another expert said that you're
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misinterpreting the fax cover sheet, that that doesn't

apply to the records that were used at Mr. Syed's trial,

that expert would be wrong?

A I'm not saying that it would be wrong. I mean,

you're trying to compare it to mine. Are you saying if

somebody challenged what I did, they would be wrong?

Q So there wasn't an attack that was used in your

case?

A No, it was not.
Q And it wasn't an attack that you've ever seen

used again? And I'm not trying to belabor —
A No. No, I'm just trying to make sure I answer

the question —
Q Right.
A — properly.
Q So you never heard this criticism that Mr. Brown

is bringing? You've never heard this criticism before?

A No, and the time that I did the test, there were

— the instruction sheet had no indication whatsoever

about incoming calls.
Q And if an expert — another expert testified

that the reason for that is perhaps more because you're

misinterpreting the fax cover sheet's reference points,

that expert would be wrong?

A Well, you're going back to fax cover sheets from
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1999. When —
Q I am.
A — when I'm doing my drive test — or not drive

test, but my test calls, it wasn't in 1999. It was back

in probably 2012.
Q All right. So just to be clear, Mr. Grant, you

did the same thing that Mr. Waranowitz did in 1999,

correct?

A I did — the calls I did, they weren't the same

because I didn't have the test equipment. So if you

notice, Mr. Waranowitz used a special cell phone owned by

AT&T. That phone —
Q Because he worked at AT&T, right?

A Right.
Q Yeah.
A And that was a special phone that was designed

specifically for drive tests. It's different than what I

did. We just bought burner phones basically and did a

test to see what call records would return. So it wasn't

a test. It wasn't to try to look at signal strength or

anything. It was just to see if we would get the same

results when we subpoenaed the records.
Q Let me simplify. Did you in that case that you

just testified to drive out to a location and pick up the

phone and make a call?
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A I did.

Q And figure out what tower that was bouncing off

of?

A I did.

Q And that's what Mr. Waranowitz did in 1999 as

well, correct?

A A simplified version of it, yes.
Q A simplified version of that --
A Yes.
Q -- except her worked for AT&T, right?

A Right.

Q And so he had frequency location data as well as

just the call information, right?

A Right, because he will see the other towers as

well and know exactly that data.

Q And, in fact, Mr. Grant, you've provided or

prepared PowerPoint presentations for others on how to

criticize cell phone testimony in other cases, have you

not?

A In my lecturing, I've provided PowerPoints and

material, yes.

Q In fact, as early as March of 2015, of last

year, you had a PowerPoint that talked about the need to

do what you and Mr. Waranowitz did, right?

A It was not the test calls. It was a full drive
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test. We were talking about how — I explained that doing

standard historical cell site can only get you a tower in

a sector. If you want more granularity, then you would

need to do a full drive test either through the JDSU

equipment or some others and that's different than what

was being done.

Q And even when you testified in a case recently,

you didn't do a drive test? You did the same thing that

Mr. Waranowitz was? Drove out to a location, picked up

the phone, and made a call, right?

A Yes. I have never been able to obtain to the

drive test equipment. It's — everything that I've looked

at, JDSU, the GAR system, G-A-R, they're all law

enforcement only. I've actually tempted to get a quote

and they basically ignored me.
Q Mr. Grant, am I right that in even further

cases, you have criticized other experts for not even

doing the test calls, right?

A I don't believe I've criticized them. I think

in my training, I've made sure there's an awareness of

what can be done.

Q Now, in fact, you got criticized in one of those

cases recently for not having familiarity with the AT&T

records that you were being asked about, right?

A It was the data records, yes, and in the Boston
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bombing case.

Q And you had to acknowledge that you weren't

familiar with those records because you never worked for

AT&T?

A It wasn't that I acknowledged I wasn't familiar.

They asked if because I wasn't directly -- I did not

directly hear from AT&T that the records for data were

unreliable, so my answer to that was, no, I've never heard

that from AT&T.
Q But Mr. Waranowitz did work for AT&T, right?

A Correct.
Q And Ms. Gutierrez was in contact with AT&T

directly in the days right before trial, correct?

A Absolutely. Yes.
Q And was subpoenaing both the — Mr. Waranowitz

as well as his supervisor, correct?

A It appears so based on what you've showed me,

yes.
Q And when you offer your opinion that the

template or the cover page refers to that subscriber

activity report, that has none of the things that are

referenced in the AT&T fax cover sheet, that's your

opinion, right?

A It's based on my experience and the fact that

the last page in that document does say subscriber
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activity.

Q Okay. Have you asked anybody from AT&T whether

that's a proper interpretation from 1999 reports?

A It was discussed with Mr. Waranowitz and he

mentioned that he was not familiar with the billing

records.
Q Is that the only person from AT&T that you've

talked to about this?

A On this particular issue, yes.
Q So if we had an expert here that was doing cell

tower analysis in 1999, that person might have a better

perspective; is that fair to say?

A They may.

Q If we had an expert that talked to the AT&T

folks that are familiar with these kind of reports, that

person might have a better perspective?

A Back in 1999, possibly, yes.
Q And if he'd talked to individuals that had

worked back in 1999, that person might have a better

perspective?

A I would have to hear their testimony. I

wouldn't know.

Q But that might explain why this criticism that

you've suggested has never been raised in any court, in

any state, in the last 20 years?
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A I mean, I don't know if it would explain it, but

if it's coming from a person who heard something from

another person, then I wouldn't know the validity of that.

That would be up to their testimony.
Q And, finally, Mr. Waranowitz, I just want to go

back for a minute to make sure we have a common

understanding. Based on your review of the fax cover

sheets and the transmissions back and forth, am I right to

say that your understanding is that the detective in this

case originally asked for a broad range of Mr. Syed's

phone records, correct?

A Yes, sir.

Q And then he got a court order to get the cell

tower data in particular in response to that, correct?

A Correct.

Q And then he got a specific set of records for

the date of the murder, correct?

A It's not that he got them for the date of the

murder. It looks like he —
Q He got the whole record, right?

A He got the whole record, but then he pared it

down and tried to -- I think he authenticated it if you're

referring to the fax that he sent back to AT&T.

Q That's right. So —
A So —

ACCUSCRIBES TRANSCRIPTION SERVICE
410-466-2033 2007 w. Rogers Avenue Baltimore, MD 21209 667-210-2925T-H-A-N-K-S C-A-L-E-B

Find links to evidence described above and many more original documents from this case
                at The Undisclosed Wiki     https://www.adnansyedwiki.com/PCR2016



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

277

IWFLWIWFFJ 11m'i 11w i m

ADNAN SYED v. STATE OF MARYLAND
February 4, 2016 BEFORE MARTIN P. WELCH, JUDGE

Q — they then got certified business records for

the day of the murder, right?

A Right. So he didn't get those. He compiled

that list from the other ones that he had.
Q Let me rephrase. The detective originally got

AT&T records for the whole date range including the

blacked out columns, right?

A He did.

Q The detective then got a court order —
A Yes.
Q — and got the call detail records without the

blacked out columns that actually showed the cell site

locations, right?

A Correct.
Q And then the prosecutor got the call detail

records for the particular date of the murder, right?

A The call detail records for the particular day

of the murder was the return from the AT&T custodian of

records, but that was in response to the minimal pages

that were sent to her.
Q That's right. The AT&T —
A So it's not that he got it. He got a return

back from what he sent, basically.
Q Right. He asked Terri Kaye for certified

business records for the records corresponding to the day
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of the murder, right?

A He did, yes. That —
Q And he got his certified business record with

that authentication statement and the subscriber

information and the pages corresponding to the date of the

murder, which is what was presented as Exhibit 31 at

trial?

A Yes, that I can agree to.

Q And your concern with that approach is that the

fax cover sheet should've been used as a criticism of that

particular date; is that your concern?

A My — it's not a concern, but you had specific

instructions on how to read the records. So anybody who

would be doing any type of location data, information

based on cell towers should refer to those instructions.

Q So that's your only concern, right?

A That the instruct — yeah, that there were

instructions. They should've been followed. They

should've —
Q And that particular criticism, your only

criticism, has not been located in any court that you know

of; is that right?

A No, not mine.

MR. VIGNARAJAH: Thank you, Your Honor. Thank

you, Mr. Grant.
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MR. GRANT: You're welcome.

THE COURT: Let me see counsel quickly at the

bench just on scheduling and just one second, Mr. Grant,

please.

MR. GRANT: Oh, no problems.
BENCH CONFERENCE

(Bench Conference begins - 04:53:42 p.m.)
(All Counsel approach the bench where the following

ensues:)

THE COURT: You've got redirect?

MR. BROWN: We do, yeah, and I'll try to be

brief. Mr. Grant is hoping to fly out tonight.

THE COURT: All right.
MR. BROWN: It was a very lengthy cross —
THE COURT: Well —
MR. BROWN: — which he's entitled to do, but --
THE COURT: — and I'm catching it on my end as

well, so we probably need to wrap up.

MR. VIGNARAJAH: I'm happy to stay if that

helps, but I defer to the Court.

MR. BROWN: Can I try five minutes?

THE COURT: How much?

MR. BROWN: Only five minutes.

THE COURT: Oh, yeah. Oh, yeah. I thought you

said 35 minutes.
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MR. BROWN: Oh, no. No.

THE COURT: No. Yeah, oh, absolutely. You can

MR. BROWN: I think I can be pretty brief.

THE COURT: — finish your — oh, yes.
Absolutely.

MR. BROWN: Yeah. Yeah, I try to be — keep

things moving.

THE COURT: Absolutely. No, I'm fine.

MR. BROWN: Okay.

THE COURT: Perfect. But then as soon as we

finish up, I just want to talk to you all about tomorrow.

MR. BROWN: Okay.
THE COURT: Great. So let's go ahead and do it.

MR. VIGNARAJAH: Thank you.
MR. BROWN: All right. Thank you, Your Honor.

( Bench Conference concluded - 04:54:24 p.m.)
{All Counsel return to the trial tables where the

following ensues:)

THE COURT: And is that 40 as well? I think we

THE CLERK: Forty.
THE COURT: Great. You have the original 40 or

is that — you want mine?

THE CLERK: No, this --
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MR. NIETO: I think, actually, Your Honor, you

may have the original 40. This is a copy, but they are

otherwise identified.

THE COURT: All right. But, Mr. Brown, you can

go ahead and start your —
MR. BROWN: All right. Your Honor, I'm going to

try to be brief.
Mr. Grant, thank you for your patience.

MR. GRANT: No problem.
REDIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. BROWN:

Q So Mr. Vignarajah asked you about pulling

records or pulling pages from larger documents and

sometimes it's necessary to do that to expedite the

process; is that sort of what he was getting at?

A No, I think if he asked if it was just common

that I've seen where they authenticate subsets of records,

which I answered no because at least in my experience,

they've always authenticated the entire document and then

use a subset.
Q Okay. But no matter how small the subset is or

how large the subset is, the instructions of how to read

the records are still important, right?

A Right. Yes, they still would apply.
Q Because the instructions tell you what — for
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example, in this case, they tell you that incoming phone

calls are not reliable for location?

A That's what it states, yes.

Q And you stick by that opinion?

A I do.
Q And because incoming calls are not reliable for

location, should those incoming calls and testimony about

them coming into trial?

A I do not believe so, no.
Q Okay. Now, Mr. Vignarajah asked you about all

your experience, whether you seen a case like this under

these exact scenarios involving ATST records from 1999,

which is a pretty old case, right?

A Yes.
Q Let me ask you this. In all of your years, have

you ever seen the state or the prosecuting body put on an

expert witness in cell tower who had never seen the

instructions to those records?

A I don't know. I mean, I can't — can you

rephrase that?

Q Yeah. Have you ever seen a situation where the

State puts on their own witness and they ask him to

interpret records, yet, they don't provide the

instructions of how to interpret those records?

A I have not seen that, no.

ACCUSCRIBES TRANSCRIPTION SERVICE
-466-2033 200? W. Rogers Avenue Baltimore, MD 21209 667-210-2925T-H-A-N-K-S C-A-L-E-B

Find links to evidence described above and many more original documents from this case
                at The Undisclosed Wiki     https://www.adnansyedwiki.com/PCR2016



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

283
ADNAN SYED v. STATE OF MARYLAND

February 4, 2016 BEFORE MARTIN P. WELCH, JUDGE

Q Does that strike you as being unusual?

A It would be unusual, yeah, I guess.

Q And was Mr. Waranowitz concerned about it?

A He definitely was once he was aware of it, yes.
Q He was concerned about it because he was

provided with records and he wasn't provided with the

instructions of how to read those records?

A Correct. That's what he stated.
Q And those instructions said that incoming calls

are not reliable for location, correct?

A Correct.

Q And he — to him, location means location of the

handset or the phone, right?

A That's what he relayed, yes.
Q And that's what it means to you, right?

A It does.
Q Mr. Vignarajah has suggested that location

refers to this column here. It says location 1.

A Correct.

Q Is that correct or is that incorrect?

A I do not believe it applies to that.

Q Because this is a list of all the switch sites,

right?

A Yes. And it's -- basically it's a single switch

for the entire city of D.C. So with that —
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Q D.C. and — is this the Baltimore/D.C. area?

A That looks like it's — it may be. I would have

to look —
Q It's a very large area, right?

A Yes.
Q So if this were inaccurate, if applied to this

and if we didn't even know what larger area the phone was

in, that would make the incoming calls even more

unreliable, correct?

A Yeah. I guess you could apply it to if somebody

gave you the address of 125 Smith Street, but they never

gave you the city or the zip code or the zip code was

wrong, how do you know what Smith Street you would be

looking for if you don't have the base? So if you don't

have the switch and then you follow it down to the cell

tower itself and then follow it down to the location, it

needs all those components to be accurate to be able to

show location.
Q So — yeah. So, in other words, if this were

wrong, then that would mean it was so inaccurate that,

like, you couldn't even determine which city the call was

in?

A That could be, yes.

Q Okay. And, again, that's incorrect based on all

your knowledge and all your experience?
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A Yes.

Q Mr. Vignarajah's theory?

A Yes, I do not believe it applies.
Q Okay. Now, the fact that this precise type of

challenge has never been raised before with this precise

type of record, does that change your opinions about what

happened here in any way?

A No, it does not.

Q Do you know whether Cristina Gutierrez worked

with a cell tower expert?

A All I know is I read the transcript, obviously,

so she cross examined him. Through the records that were

shown today, I know that there were letters back and forth

and fax numbers, but I'm not aware of her, like,

physically working with Mr. Waranowitz in any way.
Q But did she have her own cell tower expert, do

you know?

A Not that I'm aware of, no.
MR. BROWN: No further questions.

THE COURT: And any limited recross?

MR. VIGNARAJAH: Very briefly.
RECROSS EXAMINATION

BY MR. VIGNARAJAH:

Q Mr. Brown just asked you about my questioning

earlier. I did suggest that the reference in the location
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— the reference in the fax cover sheet to location

referred to the column location 1. That is what I

suggested earlier, right?

A It is, yes.

Q And you think my assumption that the reference

to location referring to the column that's titled location

1 is a faulty assumption; is that right?

A I think somebody can assume that. In my

professional opinion and with the experience that I've

had, when a specific thing applies to a field, they will

have the field name accurate. In this case, it just says

location, not location 1.
Q So instead you think it refers to a column

titled cell site; is that right?

A No, I think it refers to a general term location

being the handset.
Q Do you have any idea why incoming calls would

not be reliable and outgoing calls would be reliable for

cell site location or for a location? Do you have any

idea why AT&T would distinguish between this?

MR. BROWN: Objection, scope. Objection, scope.

THE COURT: Sustained.

BY MR. VIGNARAJAH:

Q Well, let me ask you, I asked you about this

location 1 column, right?
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A Yes, sir.

Q And you said my assumption that the location

reference in the fax cover sheet to that column was wrong?

A In my opinion, yes.

Q Do you have any idea why that reference would

distinguish between incoming and outgoing calls with

respect to this location?

MR. BROWN: Objection, scope.

THE COURT: Overruled.

MR. VIGNARAJAH: You may answer.

MR. GRANT: Is it — it was sustained?

THE COURT: No.

MR. GRANT: It's overruled?

THE COURT: You may answer —
MR. GRANT: I'm sorry. I didn't hear you.

THE COURT: -- if you can.
MR. GRANT: I apologize, Your Honor.

THE COURT: That's all right.

MR. GRANT: Okay. I'm aware of testimony that

in earlier days, and it was from an AT&T — I believe -- I

don't know if it was an engineer or a person working from

AT&T that there's a possibility that an incoming calls in

earlier years would reflect the location of the caller and

not the person being called because they were both AT&T

customers.
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BY MR. VIGNARAJAH :

Q Where' d you read that?

A It was in — it was testimony in a case. I

can' t name the case.
Q What year?

A I don' t know.
Q What jurisdiction?

A I couldn' t tell you.
Q Does Mr . Brown know?

A I don' t — I believe he may have it . I' m not

quite sure.
Q So your understanding for why that is

distinguished between incoming and outgoing calls is based

on testimony in some case somewhere ; is that right?

MR. BROWN: Objection. He didn' t' say that.
THE COURT: I understood what he said, but

overruled .
MR . GRANT: No , that's — I — you asked me why

I believe that there could be errors —
MR. VIGNARAJAH: Right .
MR . GRANT: — and that is my opinion. If an

expert from AT & T stated that there — that an incoming

call could be from a person calling, so the location

information or basically the cell tower would be from the

person calling, not the person receiving it . So the
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location would reflect the caller, not the person being

called. Therefore, they couldn't say for a fact that that

reflected the phone that was receiving the call.

BY MR. VIGNARAJAH:

Q And you're testifying here as an expert, right?

A I am, yes.
Q So that's your best explanation for why you

distinguish between incoming and outgoing calls; is that

fair to say? That's your best explanation?

A Well, no, I actually did tests and it showed a

gap of about an hour distance. Like, there was an

incoming call. It bounced off of a tower in Washington,

D.C. within, I think, 20 minutes after a call bounced off

of a Baltimore tower.
Q Are you going to be here tomorrow —
A Yes.

Q — Mr. Grant?

A Yes.

Q Do you know what the actual answer is?

MR. NIETO: Objection.

MR. BROWN: Objection.

THE COURT: Sustained, unless it's a question.

BY MR. VIGNARAJAH:

Q Will you attend the testimony of the expert --
MR. BROWN: Objection.
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BY MR. VIGNARAJAH:
Q — testimony of Special Agent Chad Fitzgerald?

THE COURT: Overruled.

BY MR. VIGNARAJAH:

Q You're permitted to, right?

A I am permitted, yes.

Q Well, do you plan to be here?

A I don't know yet. I'm not sure if I was

planning on it. It wasn't that I was planning. I don't

know what Mr. Brown would like me to do.

Q But your best explanation is based on some calls

you made and some testimony you heard in a case somewhere;

is that right?

A And it's being based on what I'm reading off of

a fax cover sheet. So it's my interpretation that the

word location would indicate the handset.

Q Thank you, Mr. Grant.
MR. VIGNARAJAH: Thank you, Your Honor. No

further questions.

THE COURT: Any limited, limited —
MR. BROWN: No further questions, Your Honor.
THE COURT: -- redirect? All right. Let me see

counsel at the bench before we let Mr. Grant go and before

we recess.

BENCH CONFERENCE
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(Bench Conference begins - 05:06:06 p.m.)

(All Counsel approach the bench where the following

ensues:)

THE COURT: I guess whatever I say to him at the

end of the day is the same thing I would say to him if for

some reason he's coming back tomorrow and I — you said

he's got a plane to catch. So I can give him a standard

admonition and that won't change anything in the event

that he sticks around.
MR. BROWN: I don't understand.
THE COURT: I —
MR. BROWN: His testimony is finished, correct?

THE COURT: Okay. Right. He's an expert —
MR. BROWN: He's finished.
THE COURT: — anyway. So there's no

admonition.

MR. BROWN: Yeah. Yeah.
THE COURT: Yeah. Okay.
MR. BROWN: It's up to us, I believe.
THE COURT: All right. 9:30?

MR. VIGNARAJAH: Very good.
THE COURT: And then tomorrow's Friday.
MR. NIETO: We'11 keep going until we finish,

right, Your Honor?

THE COURT: Yeah. How many more witnesses —
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MR. BROWN: Has Your Honor thought about what is

going to happen when we don't finish tomorrow?

THE COURT: Let's talk. Let's get these people

out of here and then why don't we step out in the hall for

a few minutes and we'll talk about it?

MR. VIGNARAJAH: Thank you.
MR. BROWN: Thank you. Your Honor.

(Bench Conference concluded - 05:06:52 p.m.)
(All Counsel return to the trial tables where the

following ensues:)

THE COURT: Mr. Grant, thank you. You are

excused.

MR. GRANT: All right. Thank you, Your Honor.
THE COURT: That will conclude tonight's

proceedings. The Court stands adjourned. It will

reconvene tomorrow morning at 9:30.
(Pause)

THE CLERK: All rise.
(Off the record - 05:08:24 p.m.)
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